This instruction manual was prepared by the Division of Data Processing in collaboration with the Division of Vital Statistics. Questions regarding this manual and cause-of-death coding problems should be directed to the Division of Data Processing, National Center for Health Statistics, P.O. Box 12214, Research Triangle Park, North Carolina 27709. Questions concerning interpretation of mortality data analysis should be referred to the Chief, Mortality Statistics Branch, Division of Vital Statistics, National Center for Health Statistics, Presidential Building, 6525 Belcrest Road, Hyattsville, Maryland 20782.

#### CONTENTS

Introduction		Page 1
Addendum		3
Definitions		13
Section I	Medical Certification U. S. Standard Certificate of Death	14 16
II	Rules for Selection of Cause of Death for Primary Mortality Tabulation Underlying Cause Concept Selection of the Underlying Cause Modification of the Underlying Cause Selection Rules and Interpretations General Rule Rule 1 Reported sequence terminating in the condition first entered on the certificate Rule 2 No reported sequence terminating in the condition first entered on the certificate Rule 3 Direct sequel Modification Rules and Interpretations Rule 4 Senility Rule 5 III-defined conditions Rule 6 Trivial conditions Rule 7 Linkage Situation 1. One linkage on the record Situation 2. Two or more concurrent linkages (conflict in linkages) Situation 3. Further linkage Rule 8 Specificity Rule 9 Early and late stages of disease Rule 10 Late effects Rule 11 Old pneumonia, influenza, and maternal conditions Rule 12 Errors and accidents in medical care	17 17 17 20 20 21 22 23 25 25 25 25 26 27 29 30 30 31 33 35 37 38 40 41
III Editing	<ul> <li>and Interpreting Certain Medical Returns</li> <li>A. Guides for the determination of the probability of sequences</li> <li>B. Effect of duration of the causes on classification</li> <li>C. Effect of "age of decedent" on classification</li> <li>D. Sex and age limitations</li> <li>E. Operations</li> <li>F. Interpretation of expressions indicating doubtful diagnosis</li> <li>G. Interpretation of nonmedical connecting terms used in reporting</li> <li>H. Deletion of "due to" on the death certificate</li> <li>I. Numbering of causes reported in Part I</li> <li>J. Querying cause of death</li> </ul>	43 44 45 47 49 50 51 52 53 55
IV Classif	fication of Certain ICD Categories Infrequent and Rare Causes of Death in the United States (001, 002, 005.1, 007.0-1, 007.3-9, 020-026, 030, 032, 033, 037, 045, 050, 051, 055, 056,	57

	065, 066.0, 066.2, 066.3, 071, 072, 073, 074.1, 080, 081,		
	), 102-104, 120-125, 323.5, 771.0, 771.3, 978, 979.0-979.7,		
E926)		57 59	
	Coding specific categories		
	ious and parasitic diseases	59	
	009.3, 012, 013-017, 035, 037, 038, 036.2, 041,		
	, 045, 046.3, 079, 112.4, 117.5, 130, 136.3,	50	
137, 138, 139	4.40,020 Nasalaama	59	
	140-239 Neoplasms	71	
	196, 197, 198 172, 200 0, 200 2, 200 8, 202 8	75 70	
244.0	173, 200.0, 200.2, 200.8, 202.8,	79	
244.0	Postsurgical hypothyroidism	80	
251.3 268.1	Postsurgical hypoinsulinemia Late effects of rickets	80 80	
200.1			
	Drug psychosis	80	
293-29	0 1 3	80	
299.1	Disintegrative psychosis	80	
303	Alcohol dependence syndrome	81	
304	Drug dependence	81 81	
305.1	Nondependent abuse of tobacco	81	
310	Specific nonpsychotic mental disorders following organic brain damage	01	
317-3 <sup>,</sup>	0	81	
317-3		81	
320	Late effects of intracranial abscess or pyogenic infection	01	
331.0	Alzheimer's disease	81 81	
331.0	Pick's disease	81	
331.2		82	
342	Senile degeneration of brain	82	
343	Hemiplegia	82	
343	Infantile cerebral palsy	82	
344	Other paralytic syndromes Epilepsy	82	
369	Blindness and low vision	83	
383.3	Complication following mastoidectomy	83	
389	Deafness	83	
390-39		83	
391	Rheumatic fever with heart involvement	83	
394.9	Diseases of mitral valve, other and unspecified	85	
397	Diseases of other endocardial structures	85	
397.1	Rheumatic diseases of pulmonary valve	85	
401	Essential hypertension	86	
402	Hypertensive heart disease	86	
403	Hypertensive renal disease	87	
404	Hypertensive heart and renal disease	87	
405	Secondary hypertension	87	
411	Other acute and subacute forms of ischemic heart	0.	
diseas		87	
412	Old myocardial infarction	87	
413	Angina pectoris	87	
414	Other forms of chronic ischemic heart disease	87	
416.9	Pulmonary heart disease, unspecified	87	
424	Other diseases of endocardium	88	
426	Conduction disorders	88	
427	Cardiac dysrhythmias	88	
428	Heart failure	88	

428.9	Heart failure, unspecified	88
429.0	Myocarditis	88
429.1	Nyocardial degeneration	88
429.2	Cardiovascular disease	88
	Cardiomegaly	
429.3	0,	88
429.4	Functional disturbances following cardiac surgery	88
429.5	Rupture of chordae tendinae	89
429.6	Rupture of papillary muscle	89
429.8	Other ill-defined descriptions of heart disease	89
429.9	Unspecified descriptions of heart disease	89
437.0	Cerebral arteriosclerosis	89
438	Late effects of cerebrovascular disease	
		89
440	Atherosclerosis	90
440.9	Atherosclerosis, generalized and unspecified	90
457.0	Postmastectomy syndrome	90
460	Acute nasopharyngitis	91
465	Acute upper respiratory infections of multiple and	
	unspecified sites	91
466.0	Acute bronchitis	91
490	Bronchitis, not specified as acute or chronic	91
491.9	Chronic bronchitis, unspecified	91
492	Emphysema	91
493	Asthma	92
500	Coalworkers' pneumoconiosis	92
501	Asbestosis	92
502	Pneumoconiosis due to other silica or silicates	92
502		92
	Pneumoconiosis, unspecified	
518.4	<b>0</b> / <b>1</b>	92
564.2	Postgastric surgery syndrome	92
564.3	Vomiting following gastrointestinal surgery	92
569.6	Colostomy or enterostomy malfunction	92
576.0	Postcholecystectomy syndrome	92
579.2	Blind loop syndrome	92
579.3	Other and unspecified postsurgical nonabsorption	92
580	Acute glomerulonephritis	92
585	Chronic renal failure	93
586	Renal failure, unspecified	93
587	Renal sclerosis, unspecified	93
606	Infertility, male	93
628	Infertility, female	93
630-63	8 Pregnancy with abortive outcome	93
639	Complications following abortion and ectopic pregnancies	
000	and molar pregnancies	93
C 4 C C 4		
640-64		93
650-65		
	pregnancy, labor and delivery	93
660-66	9 Complications occurring mainly in the course of labor	
	and delivery	93
670-67		93
652	Malposition and malpresentation of fetus	94
737.3	Kyphoscoliosis and scoliosis	94
760-77		94
765	Disorders relating to short gestation and unspecified	
	low birthweight	94
766	Disorders relating to long gestation and high	

		birthweight	94
	768.0	Fetal death from asphyxia or anoxia before onset of	• •
	100.0	labor or at unspecified time	94
	768.1	Fetal death from asphyxia or anoxia during labor	94
	795.8	Positive serological or viral culture findings for	54
	795.0	HIV	04
	700.0		94
	798.0	Sudden infant death syndrome	94
	E800-E999	External causes of injury and poisoning	95
	E800-E845	Transportation accidents	96
	E810-E819	Motor vehicle traffic accidents	96
	E820-E825	Motor vehicle nontraffic accidents	98
	E820	Nontraffic accident involving motor driven	
		snow vehicle	98
	E821	Nontraffic accident involving other off-road	
		motor vehicle	98
	E840-E845	Air and space transport accidents	99
	E850-E858	Accidental poisoning by drugs, medicaments	00
	2000 2000	and biologicals	99
	E868.2	Accidental poisoning by motor vehicle exhaust gas	100
			100
	E870-E876	Misadventures to patients during surgical and	100
		medical care	100
	E878-E879	Surgical and medical procedure as the cause of	
		abnormal reaction of patient or later complication,	
		without mention of misadventure at the time of	
		procedure	101
	E878	Surgical operation and other surgical procedure	
		as the cause of abnormal reaction of patient,	
		or of later complication	102
	E879	Other procedures as the cause of abnormal reaction of	
		patient or of a later complication	102
	E907	Lightning	103
	E908	Cataclysmic storms and floods resulting from storms	103
	E909	Cataclysmic earth surface movements and eruptions	103
			103
	E911	Inhalation and ingestion of food causing obstruction of	400
	5040	respiratory tract or suffocation	103
	E912	Inhalation and ingestion of other object causing	
		obstruction of respiratory tract or suffocation	103
	E913.0	Suffocation in bed or cradle	104
	E929	Late effects of accidental injury	104
	E930-E949	Drugs, medicaments and biological substances	
		causing adverse effects in therapeutic use	104
	E967	Child battering and other maltreatment	105
	E980-E989	Injury undetermined whether accidentally or	
		purposely inflicted	105
Category Num	pers in the Ninth	Revision ICD Not to be Used for Underlying	
Cause of Death			106
	. 21400041011		

Abbreviated Alphabetical Index

#### INSTRUCTIONS FOR CLASSIFYING THE UNDERLYING CAUSE OF DEATH, 1995

#### INTRODUCTION

The National Center for Health Statistics (NCHS) is responsible for the compilation and annual publication of national statistics of causes of death. In carrying out this responsibility, NCHS adheres to the World Health Organization Nomenclature Regulations. These Regulations require that the coding of causes of death be in accordance with the current revision of the International Statistical Classification of Diseases, Injuries and Causes of Death (ICD) and that the selection of the Underlying cause of death for primary mortality tabulation be in accordance with the international rules.

The Ninth Revision of the ICD (ICD-9) is being used for classifying causes of death beginning with deaths occurring in 1979. This revision of the classification is published by the World Health Organization and consists of two volumes. The Tabular List, Volume 1, contains a list of three-digit categories with four-digit subcategories of diseases and injuries and a tabular list of inclusions. It also contains the Supplementary Classification of External Causes of Injury and Poisoning (E Codes). Volume 1 also includes the international rules and notes for use in classifying and tabulating underlying cause of death data. Volume 2 contains a complete alphabetic index.

The basic purpose of this instruction manual is to set forth detailed concepts and instructions for using the ICD-9 for classifying causes of death in the United States. The manual should be used in conjunction with Volumes 1 and 2. This manual is also intended as a tool for users of mortality medical data in proper data interpretation and analysis. This manual is not to be used for coding cause of fetal death.

In the 1990 edition, the conditions classified to the following categories were added to the List of Infrequent and Rare Causes of Death in the United States and are identified by a preceding asterisk:

033 037 055 056 323.5 072 771.0 771.3 978 979.0 979.1 979.2 979.3 979.4 979.5 979.6 979.7

(This manual is the same as the **1993 version except for correction of the span of maternal codes listed in parenthesis page 40 in Rule 11 and typographical corrections.** 

This instruction manual also sets forth the process followed by NCHS and certain States in assigning the underlying cause of death. This assignment is made through computer applications as a byproduct of the full medical information on death certificates that is manually coded for the production of multiple cause of death statistics. The computer system, Automated Classification of Medical Entities (ACME), follows the same international rules and sequential procedures used in manual classification of underlying causes of death.

Further information on the ACME system is contained in <u>Part 2b</u>, <u>NCHS</u> Instructions for Classifying <u>Multiple Causes of Death</u>, 1995 and <u>Part 2c</u>, <u>ICD-9</u> <u>ACME</u> <u>Decision</u> <u>Tables for Classifying the</u> <u>Underlying Cause of Death</u>, 1995. The Decision Tables in Part 2c are published for two purposes: to document decisions contained in the ACME system and to serve as a comprehensive guide for cause-of-death coders in standardizing coding practices used in selecting the underlying cause of death. Instructions for using these tables are included in Part 2c.

ADDENDUM TO THE INTERNATIONAL CLASSIFICATION OF DISEASES 9TH REVISION FOR THE CLASSIFICATION OF HUMAN IMMUNODEFICIENCY VIRUS INFECTION (042.0-044.9)

The United States instituted new categories for the classification and coding of the acquired immunodeficiency syndrome (AIDS) and the human immunodeficiency virus infection. The categories were developed through a collaborative effort of the Centers for Disease Control, the National Center for Health Statistics, and the World Health Organization Collaborating Center for Classification of Diseases for North America. In the United States these categories supplement the existing cause-of-death classification system, the Ninth Revision International Classification of Diseases (ICD-9) of the World Health Organization (WHO), effective with deaths occurring in calendar year 1987. Since a revision of the International Classification of Diseases (ICD-10) will not be available until 1998, the new codes were justified by the urgent need of public health officials, clinical researchers and medical care financiers to specifically identify and monitor this infection.

The new categories are listed on the following pages.

042 Human immunodeficiency virus infection with specified conditions

Includes: acquired immune deficiency syndrome acquired immunodeficiency syndrome AIDS

042.0 With specified infections

# 042.1 Causing other specified infections

Includes only:	)
candidiasis	
disseminated (112.5)	
of: mouth (112.0)	
skin and nails (112.3)	
other and unspecified	
sites (112.8, 112.9) (excludes:	
112.1, 112.2, 112.4)	
coccidioidomycosis (114)	
cytomegalic inclusion disease (078.5)	
herpes simplex (054)	
herpes zoster (053)	
histoplasmosis (115)	
	Due to LUV/ infection
mycobacteriosis, other and	Due to HIV infection
unspecified (031.8, 031.9)	
•	
unspecified (031.8, 031.9)	
unspecified (031.8, 031.9) (excludes: 031.0, 031.1)	
unspecified (031.8, 031.9) (excludes: 031.0, 031.1) Nocardia infection (039)	
unspecified (031.8, 031.9) (excludes: 031.0, 031.1) Nocardia infection (039) opportunistic mycoses (118)	
unspecified (031.8, 031.9) (excludes: 031.0, 031.1) Nocardia infection (039) opportunistic mycoses (118) pneumonia:	
unspecified (031.8, 031.9) (excludes: 031.0, 031.1) Nocardia infection (039) opportunistic mycoses (118) pneumonia: NOS (486)	
unspecified (031.8, 031.9) (excludes: 031.0, 031.1) Nocardia infection (039) opportunistic mycoses (118) pneumonia: NOS (486) viral NOS (480.9)	
unspecified (031.8, 031.9) (excludes: 031.0, 031.1) Nocardia infection (039) opportunistic mycoses (118) pneumonia: NOS (486) viral NOS (480.9) Salmonella infections (003.1-003.9)	
unspecified (031.8, 031.9) (excludes: 031.0, 031.1) Nocardia infection (039) opportunistic mycoses (118) pneumonia: NOS (486) viral NOS (480.9) Salmonella infections (003.1-003.9) (excludes gastroenteritis 003.0)	

#### 042.2 With specified malignant neoplasms

With HIV infection primary lymphoma of

- 042.9 Acquired immunodeficiency syndrome, unspecified AIDS with other conditions classifiable elsewhere except as in 042.0 - 042.2
- 043 Human immunodeficiency virus infection causing other specified conditions

Includes:

- AIDS-like disease (illness) (syndrome)
- AIDS-related complex
- AIDS-related conditions
- ARC
- pre-Aids

prodromal-AIDS

Excludes:

HIV infection classifiable to 042

043.0 Causing lymphadenopathy

Includes:

enlarged lymph nodes (785.6) swollen glands (785.6) --Due to HIV infection

# 043.1 Causing specified diseases of the central nervous system

Includes only: central nervous system: demyelinating disease NOS (341.9) disorders NOS (348.9, 349.9) non-arthropod-borne viral diseases, other and unspecified (049.8, 049.9) slow virus infection, other and unspecified (046.8, 046.9) dementia: NOS (298.9) organic (294.9) presenile (290.1)	Due to HIV infection
unspecified (046.8, 046.9) dementia: NOS (298.9) organic (294.9)	Due to HIV infection
encephalitis (323.9 encephalomyelitis (323.9) encephalopathy (348.3) myelitis (323.9) myelopathy (336.9) organic brain syndrome NOS (nonpsychotic) (310.9) psychotic (294.9)	

043.2 Causing other disorders involving the immune mechanism

Includes only:	)
disorders involving the immune mechanism classifiable to	Due to HIV
279.0, 279.1, 279.2, 279.4 due to HIV infection infection	}

# 043.3 Causing other specified conditions

,	)
Includes only:	{
abnormal weight loss (783.2)	
abnormality, respiratory (786.0)	
agranulocytosis (288.0)	
anemia:	
NOS (285.9)	
aplastic, other and	
unspecified (284.8, 284.9)	
deficiency (280-281)	
hemolytic, acquired (283)	}
arthritis:	
pyogenic (711.0)	
infective (711.9)	
blindness or low vision (369)	Due to HIV infection
blood and blood-forming organs,	}
unspecified disease (289.9)	
cachexia (799.4)	
dermatomycosis (111)	
dermatophytosis (110)	}
diarrhea (noninfectious) (558)	
infectious (009)	
disease or disorder NOS:	
blood and blood-forming organs (289.9)	
salivary gland (527.9)	
skin and subcutaneous tissue (709.9)	
dyspnea (786.0)	}
fatigue (780.7)	}

## 043.3 Causing other specified conditions -- continued

	)
fever (780.6)	{
gastroenteritis (noninfectious) (558)	{
infectious (009)	}
hepatomegaly (789.1)	}
hyperhidrosis (780.8)	}
hypersplenism (289.4)	}
infection:	}
intestinal, ill-defined (009)	}
lack of expected physiological	}
development in infant (783.4)	}
leukoplakia of oral mucosa	Due to HIV infection
(tongue) (528.6)	}
malabsorption, intestinal (579.9)	}
malaise (780.7)	}
neuralgia NOS (729.2)	}
neuritis NOS (729.2)	}
nutritional deficiencies (260-269)	}
pneumonitis, lymphoid, interstitial (516.8))	}
polyneuropathy (357.0, 357.8, 357.9)	}
pyrexia (780.6)	}
radiculitis NOS (729.2)	}
rash NOS (782.1)	}
retinal vascular changes (362.1)	}
retinopathy, background (362.1)	}
splenomegaly (789.2)	}

043.3 Causing other specified conditions -- continued

thrombocytopenia, secondary and unspecified (287.4, 287.5) volume depletion (276.5) } {-- Due to HIV infection

043.9 Acquired immunodeficiency syndrome-related complex, unspecified AIDS-related complex (ARC) with other conditions classifiable elsewhere except as in 042.0 - 043.3

#### 044 Other human immunodeficiency virus infection

Includes:

AAV (disease) (illness) (infection) AIDS-associated retrovirus (disease) (illness) (infection) AIDS-associated virus (disease) (illness) (infection) AIDS-related virus (disease) (illness) (infection) AIDS virus (disease) (illness) (infection) ARV (disease) (illness) (infection) HIV infection (disease) (illness) Human immunodeficiency virus (disease) (illness) (infection) Human immunovirus (disease) (illness) (infection) Human T-cell lymphotropic virus-III (disease) (illness) (infection) HTLV-III (disease) (illness) (infection) HTLV-III/LAV (disease) (illness) (infection) LAV (disease) (illness) (infection) LAV/HTLV-III (disease) (illness) (infection) Lymphadenopathy-associated virus (disease) (illness) (infection) Excludes: AIDS (042) AIDS-related complex (ARC) (043)

HIV infection classifiable to 042-043

## 044.0 Causing specified acute infections

Includes only:

acute lymphadenitis (683) aseptic meningitis (047.9) viral infection ("infectious mononucleosis-like syndrome") (079.9)

-- Due to HIV infection

- 044.9 Human immunodeficiency virus infection, unspecified HIV infection with other conditions classifiable elsewhere except as in 042.0 - 044.0
- 795.8 Positive serological or viral culture findings for human immunodeficiency virus

# DEFINITIONS

The terms defined in this section are used throughout the manual.

A reported sequence	two or more conditions on successive lines in Part I, each condition being an acceptable cause of the one on the line immediately above it.
Accident in medical care	a misadventure or poisoning occurring during surgery or other medical care.
Combination code	a third code which is the result of the merging of two or more codes.
Conflict in linkage	when the selected underlying cause links con- currently "with" or in "due to" position with two or more conditions.
Direct sequel	a condition which is documented as one of the most frequent manifestations, consequences, or complications of another condition.
"Due to" position	When there are entries on more than one line in Part I with only one entity on the lowest used line in Part I, the single entity on the lowest used line is considered to be in a "due to" position of all entries entered above it. When there are entries on more than one line in Part I, each entity on the lower of two lines is considered to be in a "due to" position of each entity on the next higher line.
Entity	a diagnostic term or condition entered on the certificate of death that constitutes a codable entry.
Error in medical care	a misadventure or poisoning occurring during surgery or other medical care.
Further linkage	another step in the linkage process which must be made to conform with the classification after one or more linkages have been made.
Maternal death	the death of any woman while pregnant or within 42 days (less than 43 days) of termination of pregnancy, irrespective of the duration and the site of the pregnancy, from any cause related to or aggravated by the pregnancy or its management but not from accidental or incidental causes.

a maternal condition that causes death more than 42 days after termination of pregnancy or causes any chronic condition.
an entity of one word or two or more contiguous words on a line that is classifiable to a single code in ICD.
a code which has priority over other code(s) which may also qualify as a combination code.
the period which extends from the gestational age when the fetus attains the weight of I000 g (equivalent to 28 weeks gestation) to the end of the sixth completed day (I68 hours) of life.
condition(s) placed in an appropriate order to form a sequence of events.
a condition which is chosen either temporarily or finally by the application of an international selection rule.
a series of conditions having continuity and connection in which one follows the other(s) in the order of events.
a condition which will not of itself cause death.
the disease or injury which initiated the train of morbid events leading directly to death or the circumstances of the accident or violence which produced the fatal injury.

#### SECTION I

#### MEDICAL CERTIFICATION

The U. S. Standard Certificate of Death provides spaces for the certifying physician, coroner, or medical examiner to record pertinent information concerning the diseases, morbid conditions, and injuries which either resulted in or contributed to death as well as the circumstances of the accident or violence which produced any such injuries. The medical certification portion of the death certificate is designed to obtain the opinion of the certifier as to the relationship and relative significance of the causes which he reports.

A cause of death is the morbid condition or disease process, abnormality, injury, or poisoning leading directly or indirectly to death. The underlying cause of death is the disease or injury which initiated the train of morbid events leading directly or indirectly to death or the circumstances of the accident or violence which produced the fatal injury. A death often results from the combined effect of two or more conditions. These conditions may be completely unrelated, arising independently of each other or they may be causally related to each other, that is, one cause may lead to another which in turn leads to a third cause, etc.

The order in which the certifier is requested to arrange the causes of death upon the certification form facilitates the selection of the underlying cause when two or more causes are reported. He is requested to report in Part I on line (a) the immediate cause of death and the antecedent conditions on lines (b), (c) and (d) which gave rise to the cause reported on line (a), the underlying cause being stated lowest in the sequence of events. However, no entry is necessary on I(b), I(c) or I(d) if the immediate cause of death stated on I(a) describes completely the sequence of events.

Any other significant condition which unfavorably influenced the course of the morbid process and thus contributed to the fatal outcome but was not related to the immediate cause of death is entered in Part II.

PART	IMM (a)	EDIATE CAUSE
I	(u) (b)	Due to, or as a consequence of
	(c) (c)	Due to, or as a consequence of
	(d)	Due to, or as a consequence of
PART II	(4)	Other Significant Conditions contributing to death but not resulting in the underlying cause given in Part I.

ACC., SUICIDE, HOM., UNDET., OR PENDING INVEST. (Specify)

TYPE/PRINT	U.S. STANDARD LOCAL FILE NUMBER CERTIFICATE OF DEATH STATE FILE NUMBER										
PERMANENT BLACK INK	1. DECEDENT'S NAME (First, Midd	He lasti		CENTIF	CATE		АІП	r	TATE FILE N		
FOR INSTRUCTIONS			EL UNIT	DER 1 YEAR	E				2. SEX		DF DEATH (Month,Day,Year)
SEE OTHER SIDE AND HANDBOOK		5a. AGE-Last Birthday (Years)	Months	Days	Hours	Minutes	5 <i>L</i>	DATE OF BIRTH Day, Year)		Foreign	ACE (City and State or Country)
DECEDENT	8. WAS DECEDENT EVER IN U.S. ARMED FORCES?	HOSPITAL:				OTHER:		e instructions			
	(Yes or no) 9b. FACILITY NAME (If not institu			ER/Outpatient				Home R		Other (	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
								CATION OF DE			9d. COUNTY OF DEATH
IT: o or institution E INSTRUCTIONS OTHER SIDE	10. MARITAL STATUS—Married, Never Married, Widowed, Divorced <i>(Specify)</i>	11. SURVIVING SPO (If wife, give maiden i		(G	a. DECEDENT ive kind of wo	rk done a		DN f working life.	12b. KI	IND OF BUS	INESS/INDUSTRY
or insti OTHER	13a. RESIDENCE - STATE 13b.	COUNTY	<b>13c</b> . CI	TY, TOWN, OF	LOCATION		13d	. STREET ANI	O NUMBER	:	
Adme of decedent:	13e. INSIDE CITY 13f. ZIP CODE LIMITS? (Yes or no)	(Speci	ify No or Yes an, Puerto R	OF HISPANIC C s−If yes, speci lican, etc.) □	fy Cuban,		RACE—Ame Black, White (Specify)			oecify only h	DENT'S EDUCATION highest grade completed) ry (0-12) College (1-4 or 5+)
PARENTS	17. FATHER'S NAME (First, Middle	e,Last)			1	8. MOTH	HER'S NAME	(First, Middle, M	laiden Surn	ame)	······································
INFORMANT	19a. INFORMANT'S NAME (Type)	(Print)	1	9b. MAILING	ADDRESS (St	eet and N	Number or Rui	ral Route Numi	ber, City or	Town, Stat	e, Zip Code)
REVISION	20a. METHOD OF DISPOSITION		20b. PLAC	CE OF DISPOSI	TION (Name d	f cemeter	ry, crematory,	or 20c. L	OCATION-	-City or Tov	vn, State
DISPOSITION	Burial Cremation										
SOLUTION SEE DEFINITION ON OTHER SIDE	21a. SIGNATURE OF FUNERAL SE PERSON ACTING AS SUCH	ERVICE LICENSEE OR			ENSE NUMBE f Licensee)	3 22	2. NAME AN	D ADDRESS O	F FACILITY		
PRONOUNCING PHYSICIAN ONLY	when certifying physician is not available at time of death	3a. To the best of my	knowledge,	death occurred	at the time,	late, and	place stated.	23b. LICENS	E NUMBER	3	23c. DATE SIGNED (Month,Day,Year)
BE COMPLETED BY	24. TIME OF DEATH	5. DATE PRONOUNCE	D DEAD (Ma	onth,Day,Year)				26. WAS CA (Yes or r		RED TO MED	DICAL EXAMINER/CORONER?
PRONOUNCES DEAT	A 27. PART I. Enter the diseases, i	injuries or complication	ons that cau	sed the death	Do not optor	the mode	of duing au				Approximate
L WA	arrest, shock, or hea	art failure. List only or	ne cause on	each line.	Do not citter	ine mode	, or uying, au			· y	Interval Between Onset and Death
VICE -	IMMEDIATE CAUSE (Final disease or condition										
E SEE INSTRUCTIONS	resulting in death)	DUE TO (	OR AS A CO	INSEQUENCE O	DF):						
다 ON OTHER SIDE 번 단 이 OTHER SIDE	Sequentially list conditions, if any, leading to immediate cause. Enter <b>UNDERLYING</b>	b DUE TO (	OR AS A CC	INSEQUENCE O	DF):						
80 1	CAUSE (Disease or injury that initiated events resulting in death) LAST	c DUE TO ((	OR AS A CO	NSEQÚENCE O	DF):						
CAUSE OF	PART II. Other significant condition	d. ns contributing to dea	th but not re		inderlying cau	sa giyan i	in Part 1	120- 1445			WERE AUTOPSY FINDINGS
DEATH			th but not re	source of the test	inderlying cat	se given i	in ran i.	PERF	ORMED?	PSY 280.	AVAILABLE PRIOR TO
				· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·				- Yes	or no)		COMPLETION OF CAUSE OF DEATH? (Yes or no)
LA H	29. MANNER OF DEATH				T						
DEPARIMENI UF HEALIH AND HUN	Natural Pending     Accident	30a. DATE OF (Month,Day		OD. TIME OF INJURY	30c. INJUF (Yes)		DRK? <b>30d</b> . [	DESCRIBE HOV	V INJURY (	OCCURRED	
PAHIMEN	Suicide Could not t Homicide				<u> </u>	office <b>3</b>	OF. LOCATIO	N (Street and	Number or	Rural Route	Number, City or Town, State)
SEE DEFINITION		YING PHYSICIAN (P) best of my knowledg						pronounced dea	ath and cor	mpleted Iterr	23)
+		UNCING AND CERTIF best of my knowledge	YING PHYSI	ICIAN (Physicia urred at the tin	n both pronou ne, date, and	ncing dea place, and	ath and certify	ying to cause of cause of cause(s) and m	of death) anner as st		
CERTIFIER		AL EXAMINER/CORON		tigation in my	opinion deat						e(s) and manner as stated.
	31b. SIGNATURE AND TITLE OF C			(i) iiiy	,		1	ENSE NUMBER		1	E SIGNED (Month,Day,Year)
	32. NAME AND ADDRESS OF PE	RSON WHO COMPLE	TED CAUSE	OF DEATH (IT	ЕМ 27) (Туре	(Print)				1	
DEGUGERAG	33. REGISTRAR'S SIGNATURE					······	·			34. DATF	FILED (Month, Day, Year)
REGISTRAR	<u> </u>			• •							
PHS-T-003											

#### SECTION II

#### RULES FOR SELECTION OF CAUSE OF DEATH FOR MORTALITY TABULATION

The following are the international rules for selecting the underlying cause of death for mortality tabulation. Some examples have been omitted and additional examples and explanations presented.

When only one cause of death is recorded, this cause is selected for tabulation. When more than one cause of death is recorded, selection should be made in accordance with the rules which follow. The rules are based on the concept of the underlying cause, i.e., the disease or injury which initiated the sequence of events which led to death. Where the selected cause is an injury, either the circumstances which gave rise to the injury, or the nature of the injury, or preferably both should be coded.

Selection of the cause to be coded comprises two stages; selection of the underlying cause, and subsequent modification of the underlying cause. These two stages are described below.

#### Selection of the Underlying Cause

The rules for selecting the underlying cause are as follows. Either the General rule, Rule 1 or Rule 2 will apply to all certificates. Rule 3 may apply in addition to one of these.

<u>General rule</u>. Select the condition entered alone on the lowest used line of Part I unless it is highly improbable that this condition could have given rise to all the conditions entered above it.

<u>Rule 1</u>. If there is a reported sequence terminating in the condition first entered on the certificate, select the underlying cause of this sequence. If there is more than one such sequence, select the underlying cause of the first mentioned sequence.

<u>Rule 2</u>. If there is no reported sequence terminating in the condition first entered on the certificate, select this first mentioned condition.

<u>Rule 3</u>. If the condition selected by the General rule, Rule 1, or Rule 2 can be considered a direct sequel of another reported condition, whether in Part I or Part II, select this primary condition. If there are two or more such primary conditions, select the first mentioned of these.

In a properly completed certificate, the underlying cause will have been entered alone on the lowest used line of Part I and the conditions, if any, which arose as a consequence of this underlying cause will have been entered above it, one condition to a line, in ascending causal order of sequence.

Examples: I (a) Uremia

- (b) Retention of urine
- (c) Hypertrophy of prostate
- I (a) Bronchopneumonia
  - (b) Chronic bronchitis
- (C)
- II Chronic myocarditis

In a properly completed certificate, therefore, the General rule will apply. However, the fact that the certificate as a whole has not been completed in an entirely satisfactory manner does not preclude the application of the General rule. Provided that it is not highly improbable that the condition entered alone on the lowest used line of Part I could have given rise to all the conditions above it, the General rule should be applied even though the conditions entered above it have not been entered in a correct causal order of sequence.

- Examples: I (a) Gangrene of intestine and
  - (b) peritonitis
  - (c) Volvulus of cecum
  - II (a) Coronary thrombosis
    - (b) Cerebral hemorrhage
    - (c) Arteriosclerosis

The General rule should be discarded only when the certifier has entered more than one condition on the lowest used line of Part I or has entered there a single condition and it is highly improbable that this condition could have given rise to all the conditions entered above it. Guidance on the interpretation of "highly improbable" is given at the end of the rules, but it should be borne in mind that the medical certifier's statement indicates his opinion about the conditions leading to death and about their relationship one to another, and this opinion should not be lightly disregarded.

Where the General rule cannot be applied, clarification of the certificate should be sought from the certifier whenever this is possible, since the remaining selection rules are somewhat arbitrary and may not always lead to a satisfactory selection of the underlying cause. Where further clarification cannot be obtained, however, Rule 1 or 2 must be applied.

In these rules, the term "reported sequence" means two or more conditions entered on successive lines of Part I, each condition being an acceptable cause of the one entered on the line above it. Rule 1 is applicable only if such a reported sequence, terminating in the condition first entered on the certificate, is found. If such a sequence is not found, Rule 2 applies and the first entered condition is selected.

The condition selected by the above rule may, however, be an obvious sequel of another condition which was not reported in a correct causal relationship with it, e.g., in Part II or on the same line in Part I. If so, then Rule 3 also applies and the primary condition is selected. It applies, however, only when there is no doubt about the causal relationship between the two conditions; it is no sufficient that a causal relationship between them would have been accepted if the certifier had reported it.

#### Modification of the Underlying Cause

The underlying cause, as selected by the above rules, will not necessarily be the most useful and informative condition for tabulations of mortality data. For example, if senility or some generalized disease such as hypertension or arteriosclerosis has been selected, more useful information will be conveyed if the condition to be tabulated is some reported manifestation of the aging or disease process. In other cases, it may be necessary to modify the assignment to conform with the provisions of the International Classification of Diseases for a single code for two or more causes jointly reported or for preference for a particular cause when reported with certain other conditions.

The modification rules (Rules 4-12), therefore, are intended to improve the usefulness and precision of mortality tabulations and should be applied after selection of the underlying cause by means of the selection rules. The processes of selection and modification have been separated for the sake of clarity, though they are closely interwoven it will be seen, for example, that some of the modification rules require a renewed application of the selection rules. This should present no difficulty to experienced coders but for beginning coders the importance of going through the mental processes of selection, modification and, if necessary, reselection, should be emphasized.

The titles of the nine modification rules are as follows:

- Rule 4 Senility
- Rule 5 Ill-defined conditions
- Rule 6 Trivial conditions
- Rule 7 Linkage
- Rule 8 Specificity
- Rule 9 Early and late stages of disease
- Rule 10 Late effects
- Rule 11 Old pneumonia, influenza, and maternal conditions
- Rule 12 Errors and accidents in medical care

The	thirteen rules for detern	nining the u	nderlying ca	use with interpretations	and examples
are	discussed	o n	the	following	pages.

Selection Rules and Interpretations

#### General Rule

<u>Select</u> the condition entered alone on the lowest used line of Part I unless it is highly improbable that this condition could have given rise to all the conditions entered above it.

#### Interpretations and Examples

The General rule is the rule under which the certifier's report is accepted. If one condition is entered on the lowest used line, all the conditions entered above it must be entered either in "a reported sequence" of one condition to a line, or it must be probable that the condition on the lowest used line could have given rise to all the conditions entered above it.

			Codes for Record
I	(a) Cerebral hemorrhage	1 mo	431
	(b) Nephritis	6 mos	583.9
	(c) Cirrhosis of liver	2 yrs	571.5

<u>Select</u> cirrhosis of liver. This is a reported sequence. Each condition on the successive lines in Part I is an acceptable cause of the one entered on the line above it.

In the examples below, it is probable that the condition on the lowest used line in Part I could have given rise to all the conditions entered above it.

			Codes for Recor		
Ι	(a) Apoplexy with terminal hypostatic		436	514	
	(b) pneumonia	8 days			
	(c) Hypertension	3 yrs	401.9		
II	Myocarditis	2 yrs	429.0		

<u>Select</u> hypertension. Hypertension may give rise to both conditions reported on I(a).

		Codes for Record
I (a) Fatty degeneration of liver	1 yr	571.8
(b) Cerebral hemorrhage	2 days	431
(c) Chronic alcoholism	-	303
II Large bowel obstruction		560.9

<u>Select</u> chronic alcoholism. It is not necessary for the conditions on (a) and (b) to be causally related when the condition entered alone on (c) can give rise to both conditions.

If there is <u>a reported sequence terminating in the condition first entered on the certificate</u>, select the underlying cause of this sequence. If there is more than one such sequence, select the underlying cause of the first mentioned sequence.

Interpretations and Examples

		Codes for Record
I	(a) Pulmonary embolism	415.1
	(b) Arteriosclerotic heart disease	414.0
	(c) Influenza	487.1

<u>Select</u> arteriosclerotic heart disease (ASHD). The General rule is not applicable because influenza cannot cause ASHD. The reported sequence terminating in the condition first entered on the certificate is pulmonary embolism due to arteriosclerotic heart disease.

		Codes for Record
Ι	(a) Bronchopneumonia	485
	(b) Cerebral thrombosis and	434.0 402.9
	(c) hypertensive heart disease	

<u>Select</u> cerebral thrombosis. The General rule is not applicable since there are two conditions on the lowest used line in Part I. There are two reported sequences terminating in the condition first entered on the certificate; bronchopneumonia due to cerebral thrombosis, and bronchopneumonia due to hypertensive heart disease. The underlying cause of the first mentioned reported sequence is selected.

Codes for	Record				
I	(a) Cerebral hemorrhage & hypostatic pne	43	1		
514					
	(b) Mitral stenosis, diabetes	3	9	4	0
250.0					
	(C)				

<u>Select</u> diabetes. The General rule is not applicable since there are two conditions on the lowest used line. Cerebral hemorrhage is not due to mitral stenosis, therefore, diabetes is selected by Rule 1.

## <u>Rule 2</u>

# If there is <u>no reported sequence terminating in the condition first entered on the</u> <u>certificate</u>, select this first mentioned condition.

#### Interpretations and Examples

		Codes	for Record
I	(a) Pernicious anemia and gangrene of	281.0	785.4
	(b) foot		
	(c) Arteriosclerosis	440.9	

<u>Select</u> pernicious anemia. Neither the General rule nor Rule 1 is applicable. Pernicious anemia due to arteriosclerosis is not an acceptable sequence. There is a reported sequence, gangrene of foot due to arteriosclerosis, but it does not terminate in the condition first entered on the certificate.

		Codes	for Record	1
I	(a) Rheumatic and arteriosclerotic heart	398.9	414.0	
	(b) disease			
	(C)			

<u>Select</u> rheumatic heart disease. There is no reported sequence.

		Codes for Record		
I	(a) Coronary occlusion	410		
	(b) Cerebral hemorrhage	431		
	(c) HCVD, chronic bronchitis	402.9 461.9		

<u>Select</u> coronary occlusion. Neither the General rule nor Rule 1 is applicable. Since cerebral hemorrhage is an unacceptable cause of coronary occlusion, or any other ischemic heart disease, there is no reported sequence terminating in the condition first entered on the certificate.

#### <u>Rule 3</u>

If the condition selected by the general rule or Rules 1 or 2 can be considered a direct sequel of another reported condition, whether in Part I or Part II, select this primary condition. If there are two or more such primary conditions, select the first mentioned of these.

Certain conditions that are common post-operative complications (pneumonia (any type), hemorrhage, thrombophlebitis, embolism, thrombosis, infarction) can be considered as direct sequels to an operation unless it is stated to have occurred 4 or more weeks before death.

#### Interpretations and Examples

Rule 3 is applicable when the condition selected by the General rule, Rule 1, or Rule 2 is obviously the result of another condition reported on the same line, on a lower line in Part I, or in Part II. It applies only when there is no doubt about the causal relationship between the two conditions; it is not sufficient that a causal relationship between the two conditions; it is not sufficient that a causal relationship between them would have been accepted if the certifier had reported it. If the selected cause is considered a direct sequel of two or more conditions on the record, the priority order for reselection is from left to right, (1) on the same line, (2) on a lower line in Part I, and (3) in Part II. Conditions reported on lines above the selected cause are not considered in the application of Rule 3.

For assistance in determining whether a selected condition is a direct sequel of another, refer to Part 2c, Decision Table. The symbol "DS" identifies Direct sequel, and the symbol "DSC identifies Direct sequel combination.

		Codes for Record		
I	(a) Bronchopneumonia	485		
	(b) Congestive heart failure and	428.0	394.0	
	(c) mitral stenosis			

<u>Select</u> mitral stenosis. Congestive heart failure, selected by Rule 1, is considered a direct sequel of mitral stenosis.

	Codes for Record
I (a) Cardiac arrest	427.5
(b) Hemorrhage	459.0
(c)	
II Peptic ulcer	533.9

<u>Select</u> peptic ulcer, chronic or unspecified with hemorrhage (533.4). The hemorrhage is considered a direct sequel (DSC) of the peptic ulcer and combines to become peptic ulcer with hemorrhage.

#### Complications of Operations and Trauma

For the purpose of applying Selection Rule 3, pneumonia (4800 - 486), selected as the underlying cause will be considered a direct sequel of trauma reported on the certificate. This provision does not apply if trauma is stated to have occurred 4 weeks or more before death.

		Codes for Record
Ι	(a) Bronchopneumonia	958.8
	(b)	
	(c)	
II	Fracture of right hip from accidental fall 820.8	E880.9
	on steps, at home	

Code to accidental fall on stairs (E880.9), the circumstances which caused the injury.

Certain conditions that are common post-operative complications can be considered as direct sequels to an operation unless the surgery is stated to have occurred 4 weeks or more before death. Some of the more common complications are:

Pneumonia (4800 - 486, 5070), hemorrhage, embolism, infarction, thrombosis, occlusion, thrombophlebitis, cardiac arrest, renal failure (acute), septicemia, aspiration and atelectasis.

		Codes for Record
L	(a) Mesenteric thrombosis	997.4
	(b)	
	(c)	
Ш	Colectomy for cancer of sigmoid	E878.6 153.3
	•	

Code to cancer of sigmoid (153.3).

I (a) Coronary thrombosis

Codes for Record 410

- (b)
- (c)
- II Removal of gallbladder (gallstones) 2 months ago 574.2 ago

<u>Code to</u> coronary thrombosis (410). The operation is stated to have occurred more than 4 weeks before death.

Modification Rules and Interpretations

#### Rule 4 - Senility

Where the selected underlying cause is classifiable to 797 (Senility) and a condition classifiable elsewhere than to 780-799 is reported on the certificate, reselect the underlying cause as if the senility had not been reported, except to take account of the senility if it modifies the coding.

#### Interpretations and Examples

When senility is selected as the underlying cause, it is disregarded as if it had not been reported and a second underlying cause <u>not</u> classifiable to 797, 780-799 is selected. After reselecting, determination is made as to whether the reselected underlying cause is modified by the senility.

		Codes	for	Record
Ι	(a) Cardiac arrest	427.5		
	(b) Pneumonia	486		
	(c) Senility and psychosis	797	298.9	

<u>Code to</u> psychosis associated with senility (290.2). Senility, selected by Rule 1, is disregarded and psychosis is reselected by the General rule. Psychosis due to or associated with senility is classified to 290.2.

		<u>Codes</u>	for Record
Ι	(a) Senility and hypostatic pneumonia	797	514
	(b) Rheumatoid arthritis	714.0	

<u>Code to</u> rheumatoid arthritis (714.0). Senility, selected by Rule 2, is disregarded and rheumatoid arthritis is selected as the underlying cause by the General rule.

		Codes for Reco		ď
Ι	(a) Pneumonia	486		
	(b) Heart disease	429.9		
	(c) Senility and emphysema	797	492	

<u>Code to</u> emphysema (492). Senility, selected by Rule 1, is disregarded and emphysema is reselected by the General rule.

		<u>Codes f</u>	or Record
I	(a) Psychosis	294.9	
	(b) Senility and cancer of brain	797	191.9

<u>Code to</u> cancer of brain (191.9). Senility, selected by Rule 1, is disregarded and cancer of brain is reselected by the General rule.

#### Rule 5 - III-defined conditions

Where the selected underlying cause is classified to 780-796, 798-799 (the III-defined conditions) and a condition classifiable elsewhere than to 780-799 is reported on the certificate, reselect the underlying cause as if the ill-defined condition had not been reported, except to take account of the ill-defined condition if it modifies the coding.

#### Interpretations and Examples

When an ill-defined condition is selected as the underlying cause, it is disregarded as if it had not been reported and a second underlying cause not classifiable to 780-796 is selected. After reselecting, determination is made as to whether the reselected underlying cause is modified by the ill-defined cause.

		Codes for Record	
I	(a) Bacteremia and hematemesis	790.7	578.0

Code to hematemesis (578.0). Bacteremia (790.7), selected by Rule 2, is disregarded.

		Codes for Record		
Ι	(a) Terminal pneumonia	486		
	(b) Spreading gangrene and cerebrovascular	785.4	436	
	(c) accident			

<u>Code to</u> cerebrovascular accident (436). Gangrene (785.4), selected by Rule 1, is disregarded and the General rule applied.

		Codes t	for Record	
Ι	(a) Electrolyte imbalance	276.9		
	(b) Vomiting and dehydration	787.0	276.5	

<u>Code to</u> dehydration (276.5). Vomiting (787.0), selected by Rule 1, is disregarded and the General rule applied.

		Codes for Record
Ι	(a) Anemia	285.9
	(b) Splenomegaly	789.2

<u>Code to</u> splenomegalic anemia (285.8). Splenomegaly, selected by the General rule, is disregarded by Rule 5. Anemia, reselected by the General rule, is modified by the ill-defined cause.

#### **Rule 6 - Trivial condition**

Where the selected underlying cause is a trivial condition unlikely itself to cause death, proceed as follows:

(a) if the death was the result of an adverse reaction to treatment of the trivial condition, select the adverse reaction.

#### Interpretations and Examples

	Codes for Record
1 (a) Cardiac arrest	427.5
(b) Administration of nitrous oxide	E938.2
(c) dental extraction	525.9

<u>Code to</u> cardiac arrest (427.5), the adverse reaction. The trivial condition, diseased teeth (525.9), is not coded when an adverse reaction occurs as the result of treatment. The correct dosage of a drug is assumed unless otherwise indicated. The E Code for the anesthetic cannot be used as the underlying cause in such cases since the adverse reaction is not classifiable to a category in Chapter XVII of ICD-9.

		<u>Codes</u>	for Record
1	(a) Post-operative hemorrhage	998.1	E878.6
	(b) Tonsillectomy		
	(c) Hypertrophy of tonsils	474.1	

<u>Code to</u> removal of organ as cause of complication (E878.6). The trivial condition, Hypertrophy of tonsils (474.1) is not coded when an adverse reaction occurs as the result of treatment. Since the complication, post-operative hemorrhage (998.1), is classified to a category in Chapter XVII, the E Code is used for the underlying cause.

	Codes for Record
1 (a) Acute renal failure	584.9
(b) Aspirin taken for	E935.1
(c) recurrent migraines	346.9

<u>Code to</u> acute renal failure (584.9), the adverse reaction to the drug taken for treatment of a trivial condition. The E Code for the drug is not used as the underlying cause since the adverse reaction is not classifiable to a category in Chapter XVII.

(b) if the trivial condition is not reported as the cause of a more serious complication, and a more serious unrelated condition is reported on the certificate, reselect the underlying cause as if the trivial condition had not been reported.

Interpretations and Examples

	Codes	for Record
1 (a) Congenital anomaly of eye and congenital	743.9	746.9
(b) heart disease		

<u>Code to</u> congenital heart disease (746.9). Congenital anomaly of eye (743.9), selected by Rule 2, is discarded by Rule 6(b) since it is not reported as the cause of a more serious condition.

When a trivial condition is selected and neither part (a) nor part (b) of Rule 6 is applicable, the trivial condition is not discarded. The following example illustrates a situation where a trivial condition is selected and Rule 6 is not applicable.

		Codes for Record
1	(a) Septicemia	038.9
	(b) Impetigo	684

<u>Code to</u> impetigo (684). The trivial condition (684), selected by the General rule, is not discarded since it is reported as the cause of a more serious condition.

NOTE: See Part 2c, Decision Tables for conditions considered to be trivial.

#### Rule 7 - Linkage

Where the selected underlying cause is linked by a provision in the classification in the Notes for use in primary mortality coding on pages 713-721 with one or more of the other conditions on the certificate, code the combination.

Where the linkage provision is only for the combination of one condition specified as due to another, code the combination only when the correct causal relationship is stated or can be inferred from application of the selection rules.

Where a conflict in linkages occurs, link with the condition that would have been selected if the underlying cause initially selected had not been reported. Apply any further linkage that is applicable.

#### Interpretations and Examples

Linkage is the assignment of a preference or combination code for two or more jointly reported causes of death in accordance with a provision in ICD. The provision may be for linking one condition with mention of the other, or for linking one condition when reported as "due to" the other.

Guidelines notes and instructions for applying the mandatory international linkages are listed in category order in ICD-9, Volume 1, pages 713-721. They have been repeated in this manual along with other preferences and instructions pertinent to coding practices in the United States. Also, the codes for specific linkages are contained in Part 2c, Decision Tables. These decision tables present the linkages as described below for use in classifying the underlying cause of death.

Application of the linkage rule, as with the use of all other international rules for determining the underlying cause of death, must be carried out in a sequential step-by-step process to comply with the intention of ICD and to achieve standardization of data. This is particularly essential in the linkage rule. It is the most complex step in determining the underlying cause of death and is used more than any other modification rule.

The following symbols identify the linkages in the decision tables:

LMP (Linkage with mention of -Preference) is used when another condition is preferred over the selected underlying cause regardless of the placement of either of the two conditions on the record.

LMC (Linkage with mention of - Combination) is used when the selected underlying cause and another condition link to become a combination code regardless of the placement of either of the two conditions on the record.

LDP (Linkage "due to" - Preference) is used when another condition stated as "due to" the selected underlying cause is preferred.

LDC (Linkage "due to" - Combination) is used when the selected underlying cause is merged with another condition stated as "due to" the selected underlying cause into a combination code.

#### Placement of Condition for "Due To" Linkages

Placement of the conditions on the record is of paramount importance in determining when "due to" linkages (LDP, LDC) may be made. For this purpose, the following criteria are to be applied. If the General rule is applied, every condition on every line above it is considered to have a "due to" relationship with the selected underlying cause. If Rule 1 is applied, only the conditions on the next higher line are in "due to" relationship with the selected underlying cause.

#### Situation 1. One linkage on the record

This is the most straightforward kind of linkage wherein the selected underlying cause links with only one other condition on the record through any one of the four types of linkages.

		Codes for Record
Ι	(a) Coronary embolism	410
	(b) Old myocardial degeneration	429.1
	(c) Arteriosclerotic heart disease	414.0
II	Hypertension, arteriosclerosis	401.9 440.9

Code to acute coronary embolism (410).

Arteriosclerotic heart disease (414.0), selected by the General rule, links (LMP) with coronary embolism (410).

		Codes f	<u>or Record</u>
I	(a) Pneumonia and emphysema	486	492
	(b)		
	(c) Bronchitis	490	
II	Cerebral arteriosclerosis	437.0	

<u>Code to</u> obstructive chronic bronchitis (491.2)

Bronchitis, selected by the General rule, links (LMC) with emphysema into a combination code of 491.2.

		Codes for Record
Ι	(a) Thrombotic mesenteric infarction	557.0
	(b) Heart failure	428.9
	(c) Arteriosclerosis	440.9

Code to acute vascular insufficiency of intestine (557.0).

Arteriosclerosis, selected by the General rule, links (LDP) in "due to" position with mesenteric infarction (557.0).

	Codes f	or Record
(a) Bronchopneumonia	485	
(b) Nephropathy	583.9	
(c) Hypertension and arteriosclerosis	401.9	440.9
	(b) Nephropathy	(a) Bronchopneumonia485(b) Nephropathy583.9

<u>Code to hypertensive renal disease (403.9).</u>

Hypertension, selected by Rule 1, links (LDC) in "Due to" position with "nephropathy" into a combination code of 403.9.

#### Situation 2. Two or more concurrent linkages (conflict in linkages)

When the selected underlying cause links with more than one condition on the record, a conflict in linkage exists. When there is a conflict, linkage is with the condition that would have been selected if the selected cause had not been reported. Therefore, prefer a linkage in Part I over one in Part II. If the conflict is in Part I, reapply the selections rules as though the selected cause had not been reported. If the reselected cause is one of the linkage conditions, make this linkage. If the reselected cause in not one of the linkage conditions again apply the selection rules as though the initially selected and reselected causes had not been reported. Continue this process until a reselected cause is one of the conditions to which the initially selected underlying cause links. Then link the initially selected underlying cause to that condition.

I (a) Pneumonia

L

- (b) Congestive heart failure, renal disease
- (c) Hypertension and arteriosclerosis

Codes for Record	Linkage Record
(a) 486	486
(b) 428.0 593.9	428.0 593.9
(c) 401.9 440.9	440.9

Code to hypertensive heart disease (402.9).

Hypertension, selected by Rule 1. links (LDC) in "due to" position with congestive heart failure and also links (LDC) in "due to" position with the term "renal disease."

Construct the linkage record with all conditions except the selected underlying cause of death and apply the selection rules to this record.

Reselect arteriosclerosis. Since this is not one of the linkage conditions the selection rules are reapplied. Select congestive heart failure (428.0). Congestive heart failure is identified as the condition to be linked with the initially selected underlying cause into the combination code of 402.9.

- I (a) Cardiac arrest and pneumonia
  - (b) Cerebrovascular accident, ischemic heart disease
  - (c) Arteriosclerosis

	Codes for Record	Linkage	Record
Ι	(a) 427.5 486	427.5	486
	(b) 436 414.9	436	414.9
	(c) 440.9		
II	401.9 587	401.9	587

Code to cerebrovascular accident (436).

Arteriosclerosis, selected by the General rule, links (LMP) with cerebrovascular accident; (LMP) with ischemic heart disease; and (LMP) with hypertension.

The linkage record is constructed, consisting of all conditions except the selected underlying cause and the selection rules are reapplied to the linkage record. Cerebrovascular accident would have been selected by Rule 1 and is thus identified as the condition to be linked with initially selected cause.

I (a) CVA

I

- (b) Parkinsons disease
- (c) Arteriosclerosis

Codes for Record	Linkage Record
(a) 436	436
(b) 332.0	332.0
(c) 440.9	

Code to Parkinsons disease (332.0).

Arteriosclerosis, selected by the General rule, links (LDP) in "due to" position with Parkinsons disease and also links (LMP) with mention of CVA.

The linkage record is constructed and the selection rules applied. Parkinsons disease would have been selected by the General rule and is, therefore, the condition that is preferred.

32

#### Situation 3. Further linkage

After initial linkage is made, the preferred condition or combination category may further link with another condition on the record to create a sequence of linkages.

		<u>Codes</u>	for Record
Ι	(a) Pneumonia, hypertension	486	401.9
	(b) Arteriosclerosis & renal sclerosis	440.9	587
	(c) Cancer of lung	162.9	

<u>Code to hypertensive renal disease (403.9).</u>

Arteriosclerosis, selected by Rule 1, links (LMP) with hypertension. Hypertension further links (LMC) with renal sclerosis into a combination code (403.9).

		Codes for Record
Ι	(a) Ventricular aneurysm	414.1
	(b) Malignant hypertensive heart disease	402.0
	(c) Chronic renal failure	585

Code to aneurysm of heart (414.1).

Chronic renal failure, selected by the General rule, links (LMC) with malignant hypertensive heart disease into a combination of 404.0, hypertensive heart and renal disease, specified as malignant. This combination (404.0) further links (LMP) with ventricular aneurysm (414.1).

- I (a) Heart and renal failure
  - (b) Chronic renal disease
  - (c) Arteriosclerosis and hypertension

	Codes for Record	Linkage	Record
Ι	(a)428.9 586	428.9	586
	(b) 582.9	582.9	
	(c) 440.9 401.9		401.9

Code to hypertensive heart and renal disease (404.9).

Arteriosclerosis, selected by Rule 1, links (LMP) with hypertension, and (LDC in "due to" position with the term "chronic renal disease." This is a conflict in linkage, therefore, construct the linkage record consisting of all conditions except the selected underlying cause and apply the selection rules to this linkage record.

Since hypertension would have been selected by the General rule, it is thus identified as the condition to be linked. Make this linkage (---440.9---LMP 401.9). Conditions classifiable to 401.9 further link (LDC) in "due to" position with "chronic renal disease" and (LDC) in "due to" position with heart failure, and (LMC) with renal failure. This conflict in linkage requires that a second linkage record be constructed.

Linkage Record

- I (a) 428.9 586
  - (b) 582.9
  - (C)

Apply the selection rules to the new linkage record. "Chronic renal disease" would have been selected by the General rule and is identified as the term to be linked with hypertension into the combination code of 403.9. This further links (LDC) with heart failure into the combination code of 404.9.

### Rule 8 - Specificity

Where the selected underlying cause describes a condition in general terms and a term which provides more precise information about the site or nature of this condition is reported on the certificate. prefer the more informative term. This rule will often apply when the general term can be regarded as an adjective qualifying the more precise term.

#### Interpretations and Examples

When the selected underlying cause is a general term usually classifiable to an "Unspecified" or "III-defined" category and a more specified condition classifiable to the same section or to a disease of the same organ or body system, prefer the more specified condition. these preference codes are identified in Part 2c, Decision Tables, preceded by the symbols "SMP," specificity with mention of - preference and "SMC," specificity with mention of - combination.

#### Codes for

Ι	(a) Cerebral thrombosis	434.0
	(b) Cerebrovascular accident	436

<u>Code to</u> cerebral thrombosis (434.0). Cerebrovascular accident selected by the General rule, is considered a general term and cerebral thrombosis is preferred as the more informative term.

When the selected general term in the correct causal relationship can be regarded as an adjective qualifying a term reported on a line above it, this modification often results in a combination code. These combination codes are identified in Part 2c, Decision Tables, preceded by the symbol "SDC." specificity "due to"- combination.

Codes for		
I (a	) Meningitis	322.9
(t	) Tuberculosis	011.9

<u>Code to</u> tuberculous meningitis (013.0). The tuberculosis is reported in the correct causal relationship to be used as an adjective.

<u>Conflict in Specificity</u>. When there are two or more conditions on the certificate to which the specificity rule applies, reapply the selection rules as though the general term had not been reported. If the reselected condition is not one of the more specified conditions to which Rule 8 applies, again apply the selection rules as though the general term and the reselected condition had not been reported. Continue this reselection process until the reselected condition is one of the more specified terms that would take preference over the general term. After the more specified condition has identified, any applicable linkage (Rule 7) may be made.

		Codes t	for Reco	ord
L	(a) Pulmonary fibrosis	515		
	(b) Chronic lung disease and emphysema	518.8	492	

<u>Code to</u> emphysema (492). Chronic lung disease is selected by Rule 1. Both emphysema and pulmonary fibrosis are more specified lung diseases. Emphysema would have been selected if chronic lung disease had not been mentioned and is, therefore, identified as the condition that would take preference.

	Codes for Record
I (a) Pyelonephritis	590.8
(b) Kidney stones	592.0
(c) Renal disease	593.9

<u>Code to</u> calculus of kidney (592.0). Renal disease (593.9 is selected by the General rule. Both pyelonephritis and kidney stones are specified renal disease. Kidney stones (592.0) would have been selected if renal disease had not been reported an is therefore the preferred condition.

# Rule 9 - Early and late stages of disease

Where the selected underlying cause is an early stage of a disease and a more advanced stage of the same disease is reported on the certificate, code to the more advanced stage. This rule does not apply to a "chronic" form reported as due to an "acute" form unless the Classification gives special instructions to that effect.

#### Interpretations and Examples

I (a) Tertiary syphilis (b) Primary syphilis	<u>Codes for Record</u> 097.0 091.2
Code to tertiary syphilis (097.0).	
<ul><li>I (a) Eclampsia during pregnancy</li><li>(b) Pre-eclamptic toxemia</li></ul>	<u>Codes for Record</u> 642.6 642.4
Code to eclampsia of pregnancy (642.6).	
<ul><li>I (a) Chronic myocarditis</li><li>(b) Acute myocarditis</li></ul>	<u>Codes for Record</u> 429.0 422.9

<u>Code to</u> acute myocarditis (422.9). Acute myocarditis is selected by the General rule. No "special instruction" is given to prefer chronic myocarditis over acute myocarditis.

		Codes for Record
Ι	(a) Chronic nephritis	582.9
	(b) Acute nephritis	580.9

<u>Code to chronic nephritis (582.9)</u>. Chronic nephritis is preferred when it is reported as secondary to acute nephritis. The General rule and Linkage are applicable.

# Rule 10 - Late effects

Where the selected underlying cause is an early form of a condition for which the Classification provides a separate late effects category and there is evidence that death occurred from residual effects of this condition rather than in its active phase, code to the appropriate late effects category.

The following late effects categories have been provided:

- 137 Late effects of tuberculosis
- 138 Late effects of acute poliomyelitis
- 139 Late effects of other infectious and parasitic disease
- 268.1 Late effects of rickets
- 326 Late effects of intracranial abscess or pyogenic infection
- 438 Late effects of cerebrovascular disease

In addition, E929, E959, E969, E977, E989, and E999 are provided for late effects of the external causes.

#### Interpretations and Examples

Т

These "late effect" categories are to be used for underlying cause mortality coding to indicate that death resulted from late (residual) effects of a given disease or injury rather than during the active phase. Rule 10 applies in such circumstances. Guidance in interpreting late effects categories is given in Section IV of this manual, listed in tabular order.

		Codes for Record
I	(a) Old pulmonary tuberculosis	137.0

<u>Code to</u> late effects of respiratory tuberculosis (137.0).

	Codes for Record
(a) Heart failure	428.9
(b) Curvature of spine	737.9
(c) Rickets in childhood	268.1

Code to late effects of rickets (268.1).

		Codes for Record
Ι	(a) Hydrocephalus	331.4
	(b) Cerebral abscess	326

<u>Code to</u> late effects of intracranial abscess (326). Hydrocephalus is considered a residual effect of intracranial abscess.

			<u>Codes for Record</u>
I	(a) Hypostatic pneumonia		514
	(b) Hemiplegia		342.9
	(c) Cerebrovascular accident	10 years	438

<u>Code to</u> late effects of cerebrovascular disease (438).

	Codes for Record
I (a) Chronic nephritis	582.9
(b) Scarlet fever	139.8

<u>Code to</u> late effect of other infectious and parasitic diseases (139.8). The description of the nephritis as "chronic" implies that the scarlet fever is no longer in its active phase.

	Codes for Record
I (a) Fractured spine	805.8
(b) Automobile accident, 18 months ago	E929.0

<u>Code to</u> late effects of automobile accident (E929.0), since the interval between the accident and death was more than 1 year.

### Rule 11 - Old pneumonia, influenza, and maternal conditions

Where the selected underlying cause is pneumonia or influenza (480-487) and there is evidence that the date of onset was one year or more prior to death or a resultant chronic condition is reported, reselect the underlying cause as if the pneumonia or influenza had not been reported. Where the selected underlying cause is a maternal cause (630-676) and there is evidence that death occurred more than 42 days after termination of pregnancy or a resultant chronic condition is reported, reselect the underlying cause as if the maternal cause had not been reported. Take into account the pneumonia, influenza, or maternal condition if it modifies the coding.

#### Interpretations and Examples

		<u>Codes for Record</u>
Ι	(a) Cerebral hemorrhage	431
	(b) Hypertension	401.9
	(c) Childbirth 5 months ago	

<u>Code to</u> cerebral hemorrhage (431). Since the childbirth occurred more than 42 days prior to death, hypertension is reselected and linked with cerebral hemorrhage.

		<u>Codes for Record</u>
Ι	(a) Pneumonia 1 year	799.9

<u>Code to</u> other unknown and unspecified cause (799.9). The only cause reported is disregarded.

		Codes for Record
I	(a) Chronic pulmonary edema	514
	(b) Lung calcification	518.8
	(c) Influenza	

<u>Code to</u> other diseases of lung (518.8). Influenza is selected by the General rule, but is "old" since resultant chronic conditions are reported. Therefore, it is disregarded and calcification of lung is reselected as if the influenza had not been reported.

# Rule 12 - Errors and accidents in medical care

Where the selected underlying cause was subject to medical care and the reported sequence in Part I indicates explicitly that the death was the result of an error or accident occurring during medical care (conditions classifiable to categories (E850-E858, E870-E876), regard the sequence of events leading to death as starting at the point at which the error or accident occurred. This does not apply to attempts at resuscitation.

#### Interpretations and Examples

Т

The categories for this new rule (E850-E858, E870-E876) are separated from the categories for adverse effects of correct drugs properly administered in therapeutic and prophylactic dosage (E930-E949) and complications from procedures without mention of misadventures at the time of the procedure (878-E879).

	Codes f	for Record
(a) Cardiac tamponade	423.9	
(b) Perforation of auricle by catheter	998.2	E870.6
(c) during cardiac catheterization for	746.9	
congenital heart disease		

<u>Code to</u> accidental perforation during a heart catheterization (E870.6) by the General rule and Rule 12. When a nature of injury code is selected, the appropriate E Code is used for the underlying cause of death.

		Codes for Record
I	(a) Peritonitis	567.9
	(b) Perforation of bowel during barium enema	998.2
	(c) Carcinoma of colon	E870.7
		153.9

<u>Code to</u> accidental perforation of bowel during an enema (E870.7) by the General rule and Rule 12. The "perforation of bowel" (998.2) is the starting point at which the accident occurred.

		Codes for Record
I	(a) Mesentery hemorrhage	568.8
	(b) Laceration of root of mesentery	998.2
	(c) Peritoneal dialysis for	E870.2
	chronic renal disease	

<u>Code to</u> accidental laceration during kidney dialysis (E870.2). "Laceration of root of mesentery" is the starting point at which the accident occurred. When a nature of injury code is selected, the underlying cause of death will be the appropriate E. code.

	Codes for Record
(a) Peritonitis	567.9
(b) Perforated jejunum	998.2
(c) Status post laparotomy for	E870.0
carcinoma of small bowel	152.9

<u>Code to</u> accidental perforation during a surgical operation (E870.0) since the "perforated jejunum" is the starting point at which the accident occurred. When a nature of injury code is selected, the appropriate E code will be used for the underlying cause of death.

Drug poisoning occurring during the therapeutic administration of a drug is considered an accident in medical care. The following are some of the terms interpreted to mean poisoning: wrong drug taken or given in error, overdose of drug, or toxicity of a drug. Rule 12 is applicable when there is a statement or indication on the record that the drug poisoning occurred during the therapeutic administration of a drug and the condition for which the drug is being administered is stated.

		Codes f	or Record
Ι	(a) Acute renal failure	584.9	
	(b) Gentamycin toxicity	960.8	E856
	(c) Malignant lymphoma	202.8	

<u>Code to</u> accidental poisoning by gentamycin (E856). Rule 2 is applicable since "toxicity" indicates an accident in medical care.

		Codes for Record
T	(a) Accidental overdose of drug	977.9 E858.9
	(b) given for retroperitoneal	158.0 197.0
	(c) liposarcoma with pulmonary	
	metastasis	

<u>Code to</u> accidental poisoning by an unspecified drug (E858.9).

Т

# SECTION III

# EDITING AND INTERPRETING CERTAIN MEDICAL RETURNS

Selection of the underlying cause is based on selecting a single condition on the lowest used line in Part I since this condition is presumed to indicate the certifier's opinion about the sequence of events leading to the immediate cause of death. However, it is recognized that certifiers do not always report a single condition on the lowest used line nor do they always enter the related conditions in a proper order of sequence. Therefore, it is necessary to edit the conditions reported during the selection process. For this reason, standardized rules and guides are set forth in this manual.

The international coding guides are provided in this section. Also included are instructions for use in the United States designed to bring assignments resulting from reporting practices peculiar to the United States into closer alignment with the intent of the International Classification procedures.

The interpretations and instructions in this section are general in nature and are to be used whenever applicable. Those in Section IV apply to specific categories.

- A. Guides for the determination of the probability of sequences
  - 1. <u>Assumption of intervening cause</u>. The assumption of an intervening cause in Part I is permissible for the purpose of accepting a sequence as reported, but it must not be used to modify the coding.

Examples:

- I (a) Cerebral hemorrhage
  - (b) Chronic nephritis

<u>Code to</u> chronic nephritis (582.9). It is necessary to assume hypertension as a condition intervening between cerebral hemorrhage and the underlying cause, chronic nephritis.

- I (a) Mental retardation
  - (b) Premature separation of placenta

<u>Code to</u> premature separation of placenta (762.I). It is necessary to assume birth trauma, anoxia, or hypoxia as a condition intervening between mental retardation and the underlying cause, premature separation of placenta.

- 2. \*<u>Interpretation of "highly improbable</u>." As a guide to the acceptability of sequences in the application of the selection rules, the following relationships should be regarded as "highly improbable":
  - an infectious or parasitic disease (001-139) other than diseases due to other mycobacteria (031), erysipelas (035), tetanus (037), septicemia or pyemia (038), gas gangrene (040.0), Vincent's angina (101), and mycoses (110-118) reported as "due to" any disease outside the group;
  - b. a malignant neoplasm reported as "due to" any other disease;
  - c. a congenital anomaly (740-759) reported as "due to" any other disease of the individual, including immaturity;
  - d. diabetes (250) reported as "due to" any other disease except hemochromatosis (275.0), disease of pancreas (577), and pancreatic neoplasms;
  - e. hemophilia (286.0-286.2) or influenza (487) reported as "due to" any other disease;
  - f. rheumatic fever (390-392) or rheumatic heart disease (393-398) reported as "due to" any disease other than streptococcal sore throat (034.0), scarlet fever (034.1), streptococcal septicemia (038.0), and acute tonsillitis (463);
  - g. a noninflammatory disease of the central nervous system (330 349, 430-438) reported as "due to" a disease of the digestive system (520-579) or, except for cerebral embolism (434.1), as "due to" endocarditis (394-397, 421, 424);
  - h. chronic ischemic heart disease (412-414) reported as "due to" any neoplasm;
  - i. any condition described as atherosclerotic (arteriosclerotic) reported as "due to" neoplasm;
  - j. any hypertensive condition reported as "due to" any neoplasm except carcinoid tumors or endocrine or renal neoplasms;
  - k. a condition of stated date of onset "X" reported as "due to" a condition of stated date of onset "Y," when "X" predates "Y."
- \*Note: Beginning with 1987 data, sequences with certain infectious diseases, and neoplasms reported due to the human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) infection are acceptable.

The preceding list does not cover all "highly improbable" sequences, but in other cases the General rule should be followed unless there are strong indications to the contrary.

The following should be accepted as possible sequences in Part I of the certificate:

Acute or terminal circulatory diseases when reported as due to malignant neoplasm, diabetes, or asthma. The following conditions are regarded as acute or terminal circulatory diseases:

- 410 Acute myocardial infarction
- 411 Other acute and subacute forms of ischemic heart disease
- 415 Acute pulmonary heart disease
- 420 Acute pericarditis
- 421 Acute and subacute endocarditis
- 422 Acute myocarditis
- 426 Conduction disorders
- 427 Cardiac dysrhythmias
- 428 Heart failure
- 429. Other ill-defined descriptions of heart disease
- 430-438 Cerebrovascular disease except 437.0-437.5, 437.9, 438
- B. Effect of duration of the causes on classification.

In evaluating the reported sequence of the immediate and antecedent causes, consideration should be given to any statements of the interval between the onset of the disease or condition and time of death.

<u>Duration on a lower line in Part I shorter than that of one reported above it</u>. If a condition in a due to position is reported as having a duration which is **shorter** than that of one above it, the condition on the lower line is not accepted as the cause.

Examples:

I	(a)	Congestive heart failure	2 days
	(b)	Pneumonia	10 days
	(c)	Cerebral embolism	3 days

The duration for the condition reported on I(c) prevents the selection of cerebral embolism as the underlying cause of the condition on I(b). Pneumonia is selected by Rule 1.

I	(a)	Congestive heart failure	1-10-89
	(b)	Pneumonia	2-08-89
	(c)	Cerebral embolism	1-20-89

The stated date for the condition reported on I(a) predates those reported on I(b) and I(c) and, therefore, neither is accepted as the cause of the condition on I(a). Congestive heart failure is selected by Rule 2.

Two conditions with one duration. When two or more conditions are entered on the same line with one duration, the duration is ignored since there is no way to establish the condition to which the duration relates.

Examples:

- I(a) Chronic myocarditis(b) Chronic nephritis c 2 yrs 2 mos

The duration for the conditions reported on I(b) is ignored and chronic nephritis is selected by Rule 1.

I(a) Myocardial ischemia c<sup>-</sup> myocardial infarction 2 yrs

The duration is ignored. The codes for I(a) are 414.8 and 410. Myocardial ischemia (414.8), selected by Rule 2, links with myocardial infarction (410).

Congenital malformations. Conditions classified as congenital malformations (740-759) in ICD, even when not specified as congenital on the medical certificate, should be coded as such if the interval between onset and death and the age of the decedent indicate that the condition existed from birth.

Example: Female 45 years

- I (a) Heart failure
  - (b) Stricture of aortic valve 45 years

Code to congenital aortic stricture (746.3).

Congenital conditions. When a sequence is reported involving a condition specified as congenital due to another condition not so specified, both conditions may be considered as having existed from birth provided the sequence is a probable one.

I (a) Peritonitis since birth Example:

(b) Intestinal obstruction

Code to congenital obstruction of intestine (751.1)

Late effects. See Modification Rule 10.

<u>Chronic disease or condition</u>. The interval between onset of a condition and death is <u>not</u> to be used to qualify a condition as "acute" or "chronic." A condition unspecified as to whether "acute" or "chronic" will be classified as shown in the ICD volumes, regardless of duration of the condition. Rheumatic heart disease, under certain circumstances, is an exception to this generalization. (See rheumatic heart disease.) Other exceptions are gonorrhea (098.2, 098.3) and certain forms of ischemic heart disease (414.1, .8, .9).

Example: I (a) Nephritis, 2 years

Code to nephritis, unqualified (583.9).

<u>Subacute</u>. In general, where ICD provides for acute forms of a disease but not for subacute, the subacute forms are classified as for acute. For example, subacute pulmonary edema is coded to acute pulmonary edema (518.4).

C. Effect of "age of decedent" on classification

Age of the decedent should always be noted at the time the cause of death is being coded. Certain groups of categories are provided for certain age groups. There are many conditions within certain categories which cannot be properly classified unless the age is taken into consideration. Generally the following definitions will apply:

NEWBORN - less than 28 days

INFANT or INFANTILE - less than 1 year

CHILD - less than 18 years

Example: Male 27 days I (a) G.I. hemorrhage

Code to gastro-intestinal hemorrhage of newborn (772.4).

<u>Congenital malformations</u>. Age at the time of death may be used for certain conditions to consider them congenital in origin. Assume the following conditions are congenital provided there is no indication that they were acquired after birth:

If the age of the decedent is:

Less than 28 days:

endocarditis (any valve) heart disease NOS hydrocephalus NOS myocarditis Less than I year

aneurysm (aorta) (aortic) (brain) (cavernous sinus) (cerebral) (circle of Willis) (coronary) (heart) (peripheral) (racemose) (retinal) (spinal (cord)) (venous) aortic stenosis atresia atrophy of brain cyst of brain deformity diaphragmatic hernia displacement of organ ectopia of organ hiatal hernia hypoplasia of organ malformation pulmonary stenosis valvular heart disease (any valve)

Examples:

Male 2 months I (a) Cardiac failure (b) Aortic stenosis

<u>Code to</u> congenital aortic stenosis (746.3) since the age of decedent is less than 1 year.

Female 27 days

- I (a) Cerebral edema
- (b) Hydrocephalus

<u>Code to</u> congenital hydrocephalus (742.3) since the age of decedent is less than 28 days.

#### D. Sex and age limitations

Where the underlying cause of death is inconsistent with the sex or appears to be inconsistent with the age, the accuracy of the underlying cause of death should be reexamined and the age and/or sex should be verified.

If the sex and cause are inconsistent, the accuracy of the sex entry on the death certificate should be determined through examination of name, occupation, and other items on the certificate. If the sex is determined to be incorrect, correct the data record. If the sex entry is correct but not consistent with the underlying cause of death, the death should be coded to "Other unknown and unspecified causes (799.9)." If the age and cause are inconsistent, the age should be verified by subtracting the date of birth from the date of death and the coded entry should be corrected. Care should be exercised in selecting the correct underlying cause of death in terms of age restrictions in ICD.

Detailed ICD category-age-sex cross edits are contained in the NCHS Instruction Manual, Part 11. These edits are carried out through computer applications that provide listings for correcting data records to resolve data inconsistencies. These listings contain both absolute edits for which age-cause and/or sex-cause must be consistent and conditional edits of age-cause which are unlikely but acceptable following reverification of coding accuracy.

## E. Operations

When a sequence of conditions involving an operation is responsible for a death and there is no indication of a misadventure, the cause for which the operation was performed is coded, unless it is the result of another condition. In the latter case, the original cause is coded. However, when selecting the sequence responsible for death, no special preference is given because an operation was involved.

If a term denoting an operation is selected as the cause of death without mention of the condition for which it was performed, or of the findings of the operation, and the Index provides no assignment for it, it is to be assumed that the condition for which the operation is usually performed was present and assignment will be made in accordance with the rules for selection of the cause of death.

However, if the name of the operation leaves in doubt what specific morbid condition was present, additional information is to be sought. Failing this, code to the residual category for **disease of the** site indicated by the name of the operation. When neither the organ nor the site is indicated in the operative term, code to "Other unknown and unspecified causes (799.9)," unless there is mention of a complication. If the complication of surgery is classified to categories in Chapter XVII, code to the appropriate E Code for surgery. If the complication is classified to Chapters I-XVI, code the complication.

Examples:

I (a) Appendectomy

<u>Code to 541 since this operation is usually performed for appendicitis.</u>

I (a) Gastrectomy

Code to other and unspecified diseases of stomach and duodenum (537.9).

I (a) Sympathectomy

Code to other unknown and unspecified causes (799.9).

I (a) Postoperative adhesions

<u>Code to</u> surgical operation and other surgical procedures as the cause of abnormal reaction of patient or of later complication (E878.9), since postoperative adhesions (997.4) is classified to Chapter XVII.

- I (a) Pulmonary insufficiency
  - (b) Surgery

<u>Code to</u> pulmonary insufficiency following trauma and surgery (518.5) since this complication is not classified to Chapter XVII.

50

For complications of operations for purposes of applying Rule 3, Direct sequel, see page 23.

F. Interpretation of expressions indicating doubtful diagnoses

Conditions qualified by expressions such as "apparently," "presumably," "?," "perhaps," and "possibly" which throw doubt on the statement of cause of death are to be accepted as though no such qualifications were made. The Rules for Selection will be followed in determining the underlying cause, with no special preference given to conditions which are not qualified by these expressions.

Example: I (a) Hemorrhage of stomach

(b) Probable ulcers of the stomach

<u>Code to</u> ulcer of stomach with hemorrhage only (531.4).

When the condition is qualified by "either ... or ..." with respect to anatomical site, assign to the residual category for the group or anatomical system in which the sites are classified.

Example: I (a) Cancer of kidney or bladder

Code to malignant neoplasm of other and unspecified urinary organs (I89.9)

When the condition is qualified by "either ... or ..." with respect to sites in different anatomical systems, assign to the residual category for the disease or condition specified.

Example: I(a) Cancer of adrenal or kidney

Code to malignant neoplasm without specification of site (199.1).

When different diseases or conditions are qualified by "either ... or ...," assign to the residual category relating to the anatomical site involved.

Example: I (a) Tuberculosis or cancer of lung

Code to other diseases of lung (518.8).

When different diseases or conditions involving different anatomical systems are qualified by "either ... or ...," assign to "Other ill-defined conditions" (799.8).

Example: I (a) Gallbladder colic or coronary thrombosis

<u>Code to</u> other ill-defined conditions (799.8).

When diseases and injuries are qualified by "either ... or ...," assign to "Other unknown and unspecified causes" (799.9).

Example: I (a) Coronary occlusion or war injuries

Code to Other unknown and unspecified cause (799.9).

<u>For doubtful diagnosis</u> with respect to accidents, suicides, and homicides, see E980-E989, page 85.

G. Interpretation of nonmedical connecting terms used in reporting

The following connecting terms should be interpreted to mean "due to, or as a consequence of" when the entity immediately following the term is a disease condition, nature of injury or an external cause:

after arising in or during as a complication of as a result of because of caused by complication(s) of during following for

from in induced by received in resulting from secondary to (2°) subsequent to sustained in

The following terms are interpreted to mean that the condition following the term was due to the condition that preceded it:

causing	manifested by
followed by	resulted in
induced	resulting in
led to	with resulting

The following terms are interpreted to mean "or":

and/or versus

52

H. Deletion of "due to" on the death certificate

When the certifier has indicated that conditions in Part I were not causally related by marking through items (a), (b), and/or (c), or through the printed "due to, or as a consequence of" which appears below items (a) and (b) on the death certificate, proceed as follows:

 If the deletion(s) indicate that none of the conditions in Part I were causally related, consider as though all of the conditions had been reported on the uppermost used line.

Examples:

		Codes for Record
Ι	<del>(a)</del> Heart disease	429.9 401.0 582.9
	(b) Malignant hypertension	
	(c) Chronic nephritis	
II	Cancer of kidney	189.0

Code to heart disease, unspecified (429.9), by Selection Rule 2.

		Codes for Record
I	(a) Congestive heart failure	428.0 414.0
	(b) ASHD	
	(c)	
II	Pneumonia	486

<u>Code to</u> coronary arteriosclerosis (414.0). Congestive heart failure, selected by Rule 2, links (LMP) with ASHD.

 If only item (c) or the printed "due to, or as a consequence of" which appears below line (b) is marked through, consider the condition(s) reported on line (c) as though reported as the last entry (or entries) on the preceding line.

Example:

		Codes for Record
I	(a) Heart block	426.9
	(b) Chronic myocarditis	429.0 431
	(c) Cerebral hemorrhage	
П	Bronchopneumonia	485

Code to myocarditis, unspecified (429.0) by Selection Rule 1.

3. If only item (b) or the printed "due to, or as a consequence of" which appears below line (a) is marked through, consider the condition(s) reported on line (b) as though reported as the last entry (or entries) on the preceding line.

Example:	
	Codes for Record
I (a) Cardiac arrest	427.5 571.5
(b) Cirrhosis of liver	
(c) Alcoholism	303

<u>Code to</u> alcoholic cirrhosis of liver (571.2). Alcoholism, selected by the General rule, links (LMC) with cirrhosis of liver.

\* 4. If "due to, or as a consequence of" is partially deleted, consider as if completely deleted.

Example:

	Codes for Record
I(a) Cardiorespiratory failure	799.1
Due to, or as a consequence of	
(b) Infarction of brain	434.9 414.0
<del>Due to or</del> , or as a consequence of	
(c) Coronary arteriosclerosis	

<u>Code to</u> infarction of brain by applying Rule 1. Consider coronary arteriosclerosis as the second entry on line (b).

54

I. Numbering of causes reported in Part I

Where the certifier has numbered all causes or lines in Part I, that is,1, 2,3, etc., the presumptive underlying cause is selected by applying Selection Rule 2. In the application of this rule, consideration is given to all causes which are numbered whether or not the numbering is extended into Part II. This provision applies whether or not the "due to" on lines (b) and/or (c) are marked through.

Example:

Codes for Record

- I (a) I. Coronary occlusion 410, 250.0, 401.9, 440.9, 487.1
  - (b) 2. Diabetes, chronic, severe
  - (c) 3. Hypertension and arteriosclerosis
- II 4. Influenza, 1 week

<u>Code to</u> coronary occlusion (410) by applying Selection Rule 2.

Where part of the causes in Part I are numbered, the interpretation is made on an individual basis.

Example:

	Codes for Record
I(a) Bronchopneumonia	485
(b) 1. Cancer of stomach	151.9 250.0
(c) 2. Diabetes	

<u>Code to</u> cancer of stomach (151.9) by applying Selection Rule 1. The conditions numbered 1. and 2. are considered as if they were reported on line (b).

J. Querying cause of death

Because the selection of the underlying cause of death is based on how the physician reports causes of death as well as what he reports, State and local vital statistics offices should query certifying physicians where there is doubt that the manner of reporting reflects the true underlying cause of death. Querying is most valuable when carried out by persons who are thoroughly familiar with mortality medical classification.

It is possible to choose a presumptive underlying cause for any cause-of-death certification no matter how poorly reported. However, selecting the cause by arbitrary rules (Rules 1-3) is not only difficult and time consuming, but the end results often are not satisfactory. No set of arbitrary procedures can deduce what was in the physician's mind when he certified the cause of death. Querying can be used to great advantage to inform physicians of the proper method of reporting causes of death. It is hoped that intensive querying and other educational efforts will reduce the necessity of resorting to arbitrary rules, and at the same time improve the quality and completeness of the reporting. When a certifier is queried about a particular cause or for inadequate or missing information that he may or may not have at hand, the query should be specific. It should be worded in such a manner that it requires a minimum amount of the certifier's time. When the queries are sufficiently specific to elicit specific replies, the final coding should reflect this additional information from the certifier. The NCHS uses the supplemental information (ai.) filmed following the record or received on a separate supplemental document in assigning the underlying cause of death.

Examples:

- I(a) Congestive heart failure
- (b) Renal disease
- ai. Renal disease was nephritis

<u>Code to</u> 583.9, nephritis. It is assumed that the query was to establish the specific renal disease.

- I(a) Congestive heart failure
- (b) Hypostatic pneumonia
- ai. Underlying cause was cancer of lung

<u>Code to</u> I62.9, cancer of lung. It is assumed that the query was to establish the cause of the hypostatic pneumonia.

- I(a) Pulmonary embolism
- (b) Myocarditis
- (c) Arteriosclerosis
- ai. Underlying cause was cancer of g.i. tract

<u>Code to</u> 429.0, arteriosclerotic myocarditis. The additional information cannot be used to replace the reported underlying cause. The reply alone is not sufficient. If this case was queried either the question or the circumstances of why the ai. was included should also have been reported. If the ai. had included "the conditions on (b) and (c) should be in Part II," the reply would have been self-explanatory.

56

# SECTION IV

# CLASSIFICATION OF CERTAIN ICD CATEGORIES

#### Infrequent and Rare Causes of Death in the United States

The ICD contains conditions which are infrequent causes of death in the United States. If one of the following conditions is reported as a cause of death, the diagnosis should have been confirmed by the certifier or the State Health Officer when it was first reported. A notation of confirmation should be recorded on the copy of the certificate sent to the NCHS. In the absence of this notation, the NCHS coder will code the disease as stated; the State Health Officer will be contacted at the time of reconciliation of rejected data records by control cycle to confirm the accuracy of the certification.

001	Cholera	061	Dengue
002	Typhoid and paratyphoid fevers	063	Tick-borne viral encephalitis
005.1	Botulism	064	Viral encephalitis transmitted
007.0	Balantidiasis		by other and unspecified
007.1	Giardiasis		arthropods
007.3	Intestinal Trichomoniasis	065	Arthropod-borne hemorrhagic
007.8	Other Protozoal intestinal		fever
	diseases	066.0	Phlebotomus fever
007.9	Unspecified protozoal	066.2	Venezuelan equine fever
	intestinal diseases	066.3	Other mosquito-borne fever
020	Plague	071	Rabies
021	Tularaemia	072	Mumps
022	Anthrax	073	Ornithosis
023	Brucellosis	074.1	Epidemic pleurodynia
024	Glanders	080	Louse-borne (epidemic) typhus
025	Melioidosis	081	Other typhus
026	Rat-bite fever	082.1	Boutonneuse fever
030	Leprosy	082.2	North Asian tick fever
032	Diphtheria	082.3	Queensland tick typhus
033	Whooping cough	082.8	Other tick-borne rickettsioses
037	Tetanus	082.9	Unspecified tick-borne
045	Acute poliomyelitis		rickettsioses
050	Smallpox	083	Other rickettsioses
051	Cowpox and paravaccinia	084	Malaria
055	Measles	085	Leishmaniasis
056	Rubella	086	Trypanosomiasis
060	Yellow fever	087	Relapsing fever

# Infrequent and Rare Causes - continued

088	Other arthropod-borne diseases	771.0	Congenital rubella
100	Leptospirosis	771.3	Tetanus neonatorum
102	Yaws	978	Poisoning by bacterial vaccines
103	Pinta	979.0	Poisoning by smallpox vaccine
104	Other spirochaetal infection	979.1	Poisoning by rabies vaccine
120	Schistosomiasis	979.2	Poisoning by typhus vaccine
121	Other trematode infections	979.3	Poisoning by yellow fever
122	Echinococcosis		vaccine
123	Other cestode infection	979.4	Poisoning by measles vaccine
124	Trichinosis	979.5	Poisoning by poliomyelitis vaccine
125	Filarial infection and	979.6	Poisoning by other and
	dracontiasis		unspecified viral and
323.5	Encephalitis following		rickettsial vaccines
	immunization procedures	979.7	Poisoning by mixed viral
			rickettsial and bacterial
			vaccines, except combinations
			with a pertussis
			component
		E926	Exposure to radiation

**Coding Specific Categories** 

PRESUMED

The following are the international linkages and notes with expansions and additions concerning the selection and modification of conditions classifiable to certain ICD-9 categories. They are listed in tabular order. Notes dealing with linkage appear at the categories from which the combination is EXCLUDED. Therefore, reference should be made to the category or code within the parentheses before making the final code assignment. For a more complete listing, refer to NCHS Instruction Manual, <u>Part 2c, ICD-9</u> <u>ACME Decision Tables for Classifying the Underlying Cause of Death</u>, **1995**.

001-139 INFECTIOUS AND PARASITIC DISEASES

\*007.2 COCCIDIOSIS

EXCLUDES conditions in 007.2 with conditions in:

042.9 043.0-043.9 044.0-044.9	Acquired immunodeficiency syndrome, unspecified Human immunodeficiency virus infection causing other specified conditions Other human immunodeficiency virus infection	(042.0)
009.1	COLITIS, ENTERITIS, AND GASTROENTERITIS OF	
	INFECTIOUS ORIGIN	
009.3	DIARRHEA, OF PRESUMED INFECTIOUS ORIGIN	

These subcategories are not to be used for underlying cause of death in the United States. If the listed conditions are stated to be "infectious," "septic," "dysenteric," or "epidemic," they should be classified to 009.0 or 009.2; if unspecified, the listed conditions should be classified as noninfectious diseases (558) unless other wise indexed.

012 OTHER RESPIRATORY TUBERCULOSIS, EXCEPT TUBERCULOUS PLEURISY IN 012.0

# 013-017 TUBERCULOSIS OF OTHER ORGANS

EXCLUDES with conditions in 011 (Pulmonary tuberculosis) (011) unless reported as the underlying cause of and with a specified duration exceeding that of the condition in 011.

035	ERYSIPELAS
037	TETANUS
038	SEPTICEMIA

Code to these diseases when they follow a vaccination or a slight injury (any condition in N910-N919, prick, splinter, minor cut, puncture (except of trunk), bruise or contusion of superficial tissues or external parts, burn of first degree). When they result from a more serious injury, code to the injury.

Examples:	I(a) Tetanus
	(b) Nail in foot
Accident:	Stepped on nail

Code to tetanus (037).

- I(a) Tetanus
- (b) Fracture of hip

Code to fracture of hip (E887).

036.2 MENINGOCOCCEMIA

EXCLUDES with conditions in:

- 036.0 Meningococcal meningitis (036.0)
- 036.1 Meningococcal encephalitis (036.1)
- 036.3 Waterhouse-Friderichsen syndrome, meningococcal (036.3)
- 041 BACTERIAL INFECTION IN CONDITIONS CLASSIFIED ELSEWHERE AND OF UNSPECIFIED SITE

This category INCLUDES infection by bacterial organisms unspecified as to location or disease and not classifiable elsewhere. Specific disease conditions indicated to have been bacterial in origin are classified to the specified disease rather than to 041. Examples: staphylococcal enteritis is classified to 008.4 and pseudomonas pneumonia is classified to 482.1.

### \*042.9 ACQUIRED IMMUNODEFICIENCY SYNDROME, UNSPECIFIED

EXCLUDES with conditions in:

- 007.2 Coccidiosis (042.0)
- 046.3 Progressive multifocal leukoencephalopathy (042.0)
- 112.4 Candidiasis of lung (042.0)
- 117.5 Cryptococcosis (042.0)
- 130 Toxoplasmosis (042.0)
- 136.3 Pneumocystosis (042.0)
- 200.0 Reticulosarcoma (042.2)
- 200.2 Burkitt's tumor (042.2)

and when reported as the underlying cause of:

003.1-003.9	Other Salmonella infections (except gastroenteritis 003.0) (042.1)
010-018	Tuberculosis (042.1)
031.8-031.9	Diseases due to other mycobacteria, other and unspecified (042.1)
038	Septicemia (042.1)
053	Herpes zoster (042.1)
054	Herpes simplex (042.1)
078.5	Cytomegalic inclusion disease (042.1)
112.0	Candidiasis of mouth (042.1)
112.3	Candidiasis of skin and nails (042.1)
112.5	Candidiasis, disseminated (042.1)
112.8-112.9	Candidiasis, other and unspecified sites (042.1)
114	Coccidioidomycosis (042.1)
115	Histoplasmosis (042.1)
118	Opportunistic mycoses (042.1)
127.2	Strongyloidiasis (042.1)
480.9	Viral pneumonia, unspecified (042.1)
486	Pneumonia, organism unspecified (042.1)

and when reported with mention of the terms Kaposi's sarcoma in 173, immunoblastic sarcoma in 200.8, and primary lymphoma of the brain in 202.8 (042.2)

and when reported as the underlying cause of the term Nocardia infection in 039 (042.1)

# \*043 HUMAN IMMUNODEFICIENCY VIRUS INFECTION CAUSING OTHER SPECIFIED CONDITIONS

EXCLUDES with conditions in:

- 007.2 Coccidiosis (042.0)
- 046.3 Progressive multifocal leukoencephalopathy (042.0)
- 112.4 Candidiasis of lung (042.0)
- 117.5 Cryptococcosis (042.0)
- 130 Toxoplasmosis (042.0)
- 136.3 Pneumocystosis (042.0)
- 200.0 Reticulosarcoma (042.2)
- 200.2 Burkitt's tumor (042.2)

and when reported as the underlying cause of

003.1-003.9	Other salmonella infections (except gastroenteritis 003.0) (042.1)
010-018	Tuberculosis (042.1)
031.8-031.9	Diseases due to other mycobacteria, other and unspecified (042.1)
038	Septicemia (042.1)
053	Herpes zoster (042.1)
054	Herpes simplex (042.1)
078.5	Cytomegalic inclusion disease (042.1)
112.0	Candidiasis of mouth (042.1)
112.3	Candidiasis of skin and nails (042.1)
112.5	Candidiasis disseminated (042.1)
112.8-112.9	Candidiasis, other and unspecified sites (042.1)
114	Coccidioidomycosis (042.1)
115	Histoplasmosis (042.1)
118	Opportunistic mycoses (042.1)
127.2	Strongyloidiasis (042.1)
480.9	Viral pneumonia, unspecified (042.1)
486	Pneumonia, organism unspecified (042.1)

and when reported with mention of the terms Kaposi's sarcoma in 173, immunoblastic sarcoma in 200.8, and primary lymphoma of the brain in 202.8 (042.2)

and when reported as the underlying cause of the term Nocardia infection in 039 (042.1)

# \*043.9 ACQUIRED IMMUNODEFICIENCY SYNDROME-RELATED COMPLEX, UNSPECIFIED

EXCLUDES when reported as the underlying cause of:

009	III-defined intestinal infection (043.3)
046.8-046.9	Slow virus infection of central nervous system, other and unspecified (043.1)
049.8-049.9	Non-arthropod-borne viral diseases of central nervous system, other and unspecified (043.1)
110	Dermatophytosis (043.3)
111	Dermatomycosis, other and unspecified (043.3)
260-269	Nutritional deficiencies (043.3)
276.5	Volume depletion (043.3)
279	Disorders involving the immune mechanism (043.2)
280	Iron deficiency anemia (043.3)
281	Other deficiency anemias (043.3)
283	Acquired hemolytic anemia, (043.3)
284.8-284.9	Aplastic anemia, other and unspecified (043.3)
285.9	Anemia, unspecified (043.3)
287.4-287.5	Thrombocytopenia, secondary and unspecified (043.3)
288.0	Agranulocytosis (043.3)
289.4	Hypersplenism (043.3)
289.9	Other disease of blood and blood-forming organs, unspecified (043.3)
290.1	Presenile dementia (043.1)
294.9	Organic psychotic conditions, unspecified (043.1)
298.9	Non-organic psychotic conditions, unspecified (043.1)
310.9	Mental disorders following organic brain damage, unspecified
	(043.1)
323.9	Encephalitis, myelitis and encephalomyelitis, unspecified
	cause (043.1)
336.9	Unspecified diseases of spinal cord (043.1)
341.9	Demyelinating disease, central nervous system
	unspecified (043.1)
348.3	Encephalopathy, unspecified (043.1)
348.9	Conditions of brain, unspecified (043.1)
349.9	Disorder of central nervous system, unspecified (043.1)
357.0	Acute infective polyneuritis (043.3)
357.8-357.9	Inflammatory and toxic neuropathy, other and unspecified (043.3)
362.1	Other background retinopathy and retinal vascular changes (043.3)
369	Blindness and low vision (043.3)
527.9	Disease salivary glands, unspecified (043.3)
528.6	Leukoplakia of oral mucosa including tongue (043.3)
558	Other noninfective gastroenteritis and colitis (043.3)
579.9	Intestinal malabsorption, unspecified (043.3)
709.9	Disorders of skin and subcutaneous tissue, unspecified (043.3)
711.0	Pyogenic arthritis (043.3)
711.9	Unspecified infective arthritis (043.3)
729.2	Neuralgia, neuritis and radiculitis, unspecified (043.3)
780.6	Pyrexia of unknown origin (043.3)

# 64

# \*043.9 ACQUIRED IMMUNODEFICIENCY SYNDROME-RELATED COMPLEX, UNSPECIFIED - continued

EXCLUDES when reported as the underlying cause of:

780.7	Malaise and fatigue (043.3)
780.8	Hyperhidrosis (043.3)
782.1	Rash and other nonspecific skin eruption (043.3)
783.2	Abnormal loss of weight (043.3)
783.4	Lack of expected normal physiological development (043.3)
785.6	Enlargement of lymph nodes (043.0)
786.0	Dyspnea and respiratory abnormalities (043.3)
789.1	Hepatomegaly (043.3)
789.2	Splenomegaly (043.3)
799.4	Cachexia (043.3)

\*044 OTHER HUMAN IMMUNODEFICIENCY VIRUS INFECTION

EXCLUDES with conditions in:

007.2	Coccidiosis (042.0)
046.3	Progressive multifocal leukoencephalopathy (042.0)
112.4	Candidiasis of lung (042.0)
117.5	Cryptococcosis (042.0)
130	Toxoplasmosis (042.0)
136.3	Pneumocystosis (042.0)
200.0	Reticulosarcoma (042.2)
200.2	Burkitt's tumor (042.2)

and when reported as the underlying cause of:

003.1-003.9 009	Other Salmonella infections (except gastroenteritis 003.0) (042.1) Ill-defined intestinal infection (043.3)
010-018	Tuberculosis (042.1)
031.8-031.9	Diseases due to other mycobacteria, other and unspecified (042.1)
038	Septicemia (042.1)
046.8-046.9	Slow virus infection of central nervous system, other and unspecified (043.1)
049.8-049.9	Non-arthropod-borne viral diseases of central nervous system, other and

unspecified (043.1)

unspecified (043.	.1)
053	Herpes zoster (042.1)
054	Herpes simplex (042.1)
078.5	Cytomegalic inclusion disease (042.1)
110	Dermatophytosis (043.3)
111	Dermatomycosis, other and unspecified (043.3)
112.0	Candidiasis of mouth (042.1)
112.3	Candidiasis of skin and nails (042.1)
112.5	Candidiasis, disseminated (042.1)
112.8-112.9	Candidiasis, other and unspecified sites (042.1)
114	Coccidioidomycosis (042.1)
115	Histoplasmosis (042.1)
118	Opportunistic mycoses (042.1)
127.2	Strongyloidiasis (042.1)
260-269	Nutritional deficiencies (043.3)
276.5	Volume depletion (043.3)
279	Disorders involving the immune mechanism (043.2)
280	Iron deficiency anemia (043.3)
281	Other deficiency anemias (043.3)
283	Acquired hemolytic anemia, (043.3)
284.8-284.9	Aplastic anemia, other and unspecified (043.3)
285.9	Anemia, unspecified (043.3)
287.4-287.5	Thrombocytopenia, secondary and unspecified (043.3)

044	OTHER HUMAN IMMUNODEFICIENCY VIRUS INFECTION - continued
288.0	Agranulocytosis (043.3)
289.4	Hypersplenism (043.3)
289.9	Other diseases of blood and blood-forming organs, unspecified (043.3)
290.1	Presenile dementia (043.1)
294.9	Organic psychotic conditions, unspecified (043.1)
298.9	Non-organic psychotic conditions, unspecified (043.1)
310.9	Mental disorders following organic brain damage, unspecified (043.1)
323.9	Encephalitis, myelitis and encephalomyelitis, unspecified cause (043.1)
336.9	Unspecified diseases of spinal cord (043.1)
341.9	Demyelinating disease, central nervous system,
	unspecified (043.1)
348.3	Encephalopathy, unspecified (043.1)
348.9	Conditions of brain, unspecified (043.1)
349.9	Disorder of central nervous system, unspecified (043.1)
357.0	Acute infective polyneuritis (043.3)
357.8-357.9	Inflammatory and toxic neuropathy, other and unspecified (043.3)
362.1	Other background retinopathy and retinal vascular changes (043.3)
369	Blindness and low vision (043.3)
480.9	Viral pneumonia, unspecified (042.1)
486	Pneumonia, unspecified (042.1)
527.9	Disease of salivary gland unspecified (043.3)
528.6	Leukoplakia of oral mucosa including tongue (043.3)
558	Other noninfective gastroenteritis and colitis (043.3)
579.9	Intestinal malabsorption unspecified (043.3)
709.9	Disorders of skin and subcutaneous tissue unspecified (043.3)
711.0	Pyogenic arthritis (043.3)
711.9	Unspecified infective arthritis (043.3)
729.2	Neuralgia, neuritis and radiculitis, unspecified (043.3)
780.6	Pyrexia of unknown origin (043.3)
780.7	Malaise and fatigue (043.3)
780.8	Hyperhidrosis (043.3)
782.1	Rash and other nonspecific skin eruption (043.3)
783.2	Abnormal loss of weight (043.3)
783.4	Lack of expected normal physiological development (043.3)
785.6	Enlargement of lymph nodes (043.0)
786.0	Dyspnea and respiratory abnormalities (043.3)
789.1	Hepatomegaly (043.3)
789.2	Splenomegaly (043.3)
799.4	Cachexia (043.3)

and when reported with mention of the terms Kaposi's sarcoma in 173, immunoblastic sarcoma in 200.8, and primary lymphoma of the brain in 202.8 (042.2)

and when reported as the underlying cause of the term Nocardia infection in 039 (042.1)

# \*044.9 HUMAN IMMUNODEFICIENCY VIRUS INFECTION, UNSPECIFIED

EXCLUDES when reported as the underlying cause of:		
047.9	Viral and aseptic meningitis, unspecified (044.0)	
079.9	Viral infection ("infectious mononucleosis-like	
	syndrome") (044.0)	
683	Acute lymphadenitis (044.0)	

045 ACUTE POLIOMYELITIS

This category INCLUDES poliomyelitis specified as acute unless there is clear indication that death occurred more than one year after the onset of poliomyelitis. It also INCLUDES poliomyelitis not specified as acute if it is clearly indicated that death occurred less than one year after onset of the poliomyelitis. Otherwise poliomyelitis or its sequelae should be assigned to Late effects of acute poliomyelitis (138).

# \*046.3 PROGRESSIVE MULTIFOCAL LEUKOENCEPHALOPATHY

EXCLUDES conditions in 046.3 with conditions in:		
042.9	Acquired immunodeficiency syndrome, unspecified	(
043.0-043.9	Human immunodeficiency virus infection causing other specified conditions	( (042.0)
044.0-044.9	Other human immunodeficiency virus infection	Ş

079 VIRAL INFECTION IN CONDITIONS CLASSIFIED ELSEWHERE AND OF UNSPECIFIED SITE

This category INCLUDES viral infections unspecified as to location or disease and not classified elsewhere. Specific disease conditions indicated to have been viral in origin are classified to the specific disease rather than to 079. Examples: adenovirus enteritis is classified to 008.6, and acute viral bronchitis is classified to 466.0.

## \*112.4 CANDIDIASIS OF LUNG

EXCLUDES conditions in 112.4 with conditions in:<br/>042.9 Acquired immunodeficiency syndrome, unspecified<br/>043.0-043.9 Human immunodeficiency virus infection causing<br/>other specified conditions-- (042.0)044.0-044.9 Other human immunodeficiency virus infection-- (042.0)

## \*117.5 CRYPTOCOCCOSIS

EXCLUDES cond	ditions in 117.5 with conditions in:	
042.9	Acquired immunodeficiency syndrome, unspecified	2
043.0-043.9	Human immunodeficiency virus infection causing	Ì (042.0)
	other specified conditions	
044.0-044.9	Other human immunodeficiency virus infection	ſ

## \*130 TOXOPLASMOSIS

EXCLUDES cond	litions in 130 with conditions in:	l
042.9	Acquired immunodeficiency syndrome, unspecified	1
043.0-043.9	Human immunodeficiency virus infection causing	Ì (042.0)
	other specified conditions	)
044.0-044.9	Other human immunodeficiency virus infection	ſ

## \*136.3 PNEUMOCYSTOSIS

EXCLUDES con	ditions in 136.3 with conditions in:	l
042.9	Acquired immunodeficiency syndrome, unspecified	1
043.0-043.9	Human immunodeficiency virus infection causing	} (042.0)
	other specified conditions	Ì
044.0-044.9	Other human immunodeficiency virus infection	ſ

## 137 LATE EFFECTS OF TUBERCULOSIS

This category INCLUDES conditions stated to be a late effect of tuberculosis classifiable to 010-018. It also includes tuberculosis stated to be arrested, cured, healed, inactive, old, or quiescent, whether or not the residual or late effect is specified, unless there is evidence of active tuberculosis.

## 138 LATE EFFECTS OF ACUTE POLIOMYELITIS

This category INCLUDES late effects of acute poliomyelitis classifiable to 045. This "late effects" include conditions specified as such, or as sequela, and those which were present one year or more after onset of the causal condition. It also includes poliomyelitis not specified as acute or active if interval between onset of poliomyelitis and death is not indicated or is indicated to be one year or more.

## 139 LATE EFFECTS OF OTHER INFECTIOUS AND PARASITIC DISEASES

This category INCLUDES late effects of all infectious and parasitic diseases in Chapter I except tuberculosis and poliomyelitis.

## 139.0 LATE EFFECTS OF VIRAL ENCEPHALITIS

This subcategory INCLUDES late effects of viral encephalitis classifiable to 049.8, 049.9, and 062-064. The "late effects" include conditions specified as such, or as sequela, and those which were present 1 year or more after onset of the causal condition.

## 139.1 LATE EFFECTS OF TRACHOMA

This subcategory INCLUDES late effects of trachoma classifiable to 076. The "late effects" include residuals of trachoma specified as healed or inactive and certain specified sequelae such as blindness, cicatricial entropion and conjunctival scars unless there is evidence of active infection.

The "late effects" INCLUDE residuals specified as late effects or conditions in 001-009, 020-041, 046-048, 049.0, 049.1, 050-061, 065-075, 077-136 specified as arrested, cured, healed, inactive, old, or quiescent unless there is evidence of active disease.

"Late effects" also INCLUDE chronic conditions reported as due to, or residual condition present 1 year or more after onset of conditions classifiable to categories 001-003, 020-022, 027.0, 032-037, 047, 048, 049.0, 049.1, 050, 052-056, 060, 066.2, 071-073, 080-083, and 130.

Examples: I (a) Heart failure

- (b) Pneumonia
- (c) Herpes meningitis 2 years

Code to late effects of other infectious and parasitic diseases (139.8).

I (a) Old Amebiasis

Code to late effects of other infectious and parasitic diseases (139.8).

## 140-239 NEOPLASMS

Separate categories have been provided for coding malignant neoplasms (140-208), benign neoplasms (210-228), carcinoma in situ (230-234), neoplasm of uncertain behavior (235-238), and neoplasms of unspecified nature (239). Categories and subcategories within these groupings identify the sites and/or morphological types of the neoplasms.

A. Morphological Types

The Alphabetical Index contains a comprehensive listing of morphological types of neoplasms with indication as to whether the neoplasm should be coded as malignant, benign, carcinoma in situ, of uncertain behavior, or unspecified nature as well as to the coding by site. This may take the form of a reference to the appropriate column in the "Neoplasm" listing in the index when the morphological type could occur in a variety of organs, e.g.,

Adenoma, Villous (M8261/1) - see Neoplasm, uncertain behavior

or to a particular part of that listing when the morphological type arises in a particular type of tissue, e.g.,

Fibromyxoma (M8811/0) - see Neoplasm, connective tissue, benign.

It may give the code for the site assumed to be most likely when no site is specified, e.g.,

Astrocytoma (M9400/3)

specified sites NEC - see Neoplasm, malignant

unspecified site 1919

or it may give a code to be used whatever site is reported when the vast majority of neoplasms of the morphological type occur in a particular site, e.g.,

Hepatocarcinoma (M8170/3) 1550.

Coders should, therefore, look up the morphological type in the Alphabetical Index before referring to the listing under "Neoplasm" for the site.

As indicated in the introduction to this manual, the M numbers and the accompanying fifth digits indicating behavior which appear following the morphological terms in the index listings will not be used in NCHS for mortality coding.

A morphological term ending in "osis," unless it is specifically indexed, should be coded in the same way as the tumor name to which "osis" has been added. For example, neuroblastomatosis should be coded in the same way as neuroblastoma, but hemangiomatosis, which is specifically indexed, is not coded in the same way as hemangioma.

It has not been possible to index all combinations of the order of prefixes in compound morphological terms. For example, the term "chondrofibrosarcoma" does not appear in the index, but "Fibrochondrosarcoma (M9220/3) - see Neoplasm, cartilage, malignant" does. Since the two terms have the same prefixes (in a different order) chondrofibrosarcoma should be coded the same as fibrochondrosarcoma.

## B. Multiple sites

If malignant neoplasms of more than one site are entered on the certificate, the site indicated as primary should be selected, regardless of the position of the conditions on the certificate. This indication may be:

- 1. the specification of one site as primary;
  - Example: I (a) Carcinoma of mediastinum (b) Primary in bronchus

Code to carcinoma of bronchus (162.9).

2. the specification of other sites as "secondary," "metastases" or "spread;"

Examples: I (a) Carcinoma of breast with secondaries in brain

Code to carcinoma of breast (174.9).

I (a) Cancer of bladder with spread to kidney and adrenal gland

Code to cancer of bladder (188.9).

- 3. an acceptable order of entry pointing to one site as primary;
  - Example: I (a) Cancer of brain (b) Cancer of lung

<u>Code to</u> cancer of lung (162.9). The order of entry indicates this was the primary site.

Malignant neoplasm of lymph nodes not specified as primary should be assumed to be secondary.

Examples: I (a) Cancer in supraclavicular lymph node

- (b) (c)
- II Gastric carcinoma

Code to cancer of stomach (151.9).

I (a) Carcinoma of lymph node

<u>Code to</u> the morphological type, site unspecified (199.1), since lymph node is considered secondary unless stated as primary.

I (a) Lymph node sarcomatosis

Code to 171.9, sarcomatosis of unspecified site.

If there is no indication as to which was the primary site or if it appears there were two or more primary malignant neoplasms (for example, if sites are entered on the same line or in different parts of the certificate), prefer a defined site to an ill-defined site in category 195. Otherwise, prefer the first mentioned.

Examples: I (a) Carcinoma, breast and cecum

Code to carcinoma of breast (174.9).

- I (a) Carcinoma of pelvis
  - (b)
  - (C)
- II Carcinoma of cervix

Code to carcinoma of cervix (180.9).

## C. Imprecise or doubtful descriptions of site

Neoplasms of sites prefixed by "peri," "para," "pre," "supra," "infra," etc. or described as in the "area" or "region" of a site, unless these terms are specifically indexed, should be coded as follows: for morphological types classifiable to one of the categories 170, 171, 172, 173, 191, or 192, code to the appropriate subdivision of that category; otherwise, code to the appropriate subdivision of 195 (other and ill-defined sites).

Examples: Melanoma of the groin area

Code to melanoma of trunk (172.5).

Peribiliary carcinoma

Code to carcinoma of abdomen (195.2).

Neoplasms described as of one site or another should be coded to the rubric that embraces both sites or, if no appropriate rubric exists, to "unspecified site."

Examples: I (a) Osteosarcoma of lumbar vertebra or sacrum

Code to osteosarcoma, unspecified site (170.9).

I (a) Carcinoma of sigmoid or splenic flexure

Code to carcinoma colon, unspecified (153.9).

I (a) Cancer of pancreas or lung

Code to cancer of unspecified site (199.1).

D. Neoplasm of unspecified site

When there is no specification of the site of a neoplasm, code to "unspecified site" for the morphological type involved, even though the neoplasm is associated with some other condition (e.g., obstruction, hemorrhage, perforation) of a specified site.

Examples: I (a) Perforation of stomach (b) Carcinoma

<u>Code to</u> 199.1.

- I (a) Ureteric obstruction
  - (b) Sarcoma

<u>Code to</u> 171.9.

- I (a) Hemorrhage of bladder
  - (b) Transitional cell carcinoma

<u>Code to</u> 199.1.

E. "Primary site unknown"

When the statement "primary site unknown" appears on a certificate, code to the category for "unspecified site" for the morphological type involved (e.g., adenocarcinoma 199.1, fibrosarcoma 171.9, osteosarcoma 170.9); any other sites of malignant neoplasm reported elsewhere on the certificate should be assumed to be secondary.

Examples: I (a) Cardio respiratory failure

- (b) Malignant tumor of chest and abdomen
- (c) Primary site unknown

<u>Code to</u> 199.1.

- I (a) Leiomyosarcoma of face
  - (b) Primary unknown

<u>Code to</u> 171.9.

## F. Secondary sites

- 196 Secondary and unspecified malignant neoplasm of lymph nodes.
- 197 Secondary malignant neoplasm of respiratory and digestive system.
- 198 Secondary malignant neoplasm of other specified sites.

The above categories are not to be used for underlying cause of death. Secondary neoplasm of specified sites, or of unspecified site, without mention of a primary site, should be coded to the category for "unspecified site" for the morphological type involved (e.g., carcinoma 199.1, sarcoma 171.9, melanoma 172.9).

Examples: I (a) Secondary carcinoma of brain

<u>Code to</u> 199.1.

I (a) Secondary osteosarcoma in ribs, spine and clavicle

<u>Code to</u> 170.9.

G. Implication of malignancy

Mention on a certificate that a neoplasm has given rise to metastases or secondaries means the neoplasm is malignant and it should be so coded even though the name of the neoplasm without mention of metastases would be classified to some other section of Chapter II.

Examples: I (a) Metastatic involvement of lymph nodes (b) Carcinoma-in-situ of cervix, resected 2 years ago

Code to malignant neoplasm of cervix uteri (180.9).

I (a) Secondaries in lymph nodes and lung(b) Brenner tumor

Code to malignant neoplasm of ovary (183.0).

H. "Metastatic" cancer

The adjective "metastatic" is used ambiguously, sometimes to mean secondary deposits from a primary elsewhere and sometimes to mean a metastasizing primary. No arbitrary rule can satisfactorily solve this problem since usage varies in different languages and different countries, but the following rule is proposed as an expedient when there is doubt as to the meaning intended.

1. Cancer described as "metastatic from" a site should be interpreted as primary of that site, and cancer described as "metastatic to" a site should be interpreted as secondary of that site.

Examples: I (a) Carcinoma in lymph nodes and lungs

(b) Metastatic from nasopharynx

<u>Code to primary malignant neoplasm of nasopharynx (147.9).</u>

I (a) Metastatic cancer from liver to lung

Code to primary malignant neoplasm of liver (155.0).

- 2. If two or more sites are reported and all are qualified as "metastatic," code as for "primary site unknown" in E, page 75.
  - Examples: I (a) Metastatic carcinoma of lung
    - (b) Metastatic carcinoma of breast

<u>Code to</u> 199.1.

I (a) Metastatic melanoma of lung and liver

<u>Code to</u> 172.9.

- 3. If only one site is reported and qualified as "metastatic," code as follows:
  - a. code to the category for "unspecified site" for the morphological type unless this code is 199.

Examples: I (a) Metastatic renal cell carcinoma of lung

<u>Code to</u> 189.0.

I (a) Metastatic osteosarcoma of arm

<u>Code to</u> 170.9.

b. when the morphological type is 199, code as primary malignant neoplasm of the site except for the following sites which should be coded to 199:

any site classifiable to 195 bone brain diaphragm heart liver lymph nodes

mediastinum meninges peritoneum pleura retroperitoneum spinal cord

Examples: I (a) Metastatic lung cancer

<u>Code to</u> 162.9.

I (a) Metastatic cancer of brain

<u>Code to</u> 199.1.

I (a) Metastatic cancer of hip

<u>Code to</u> 199.1.

4. If no site is reported, but the morphological type is qualified as "metastatic" code as for "primary site unknown" in E, Page 75.

Example: I (a) Metastatic astrocytoma

<u>Code to</u> 191.9.

- 5. If two or more sites are reported and some are qualified as "metastatic" while others are not, code as follows:
  - a. metastatic cancer of sites listed in 3.b. should be considered as

secondary

- b. when sites other than these are qualified as "metastatic," take into account the order of entry on the certificate and any statement of duration.
  - Examples: I (a) Carcinoma of lung
    - (b) Metastatic carcinoma of breast

<u>Code to</u> 174.9.

- I (a) Carcinoma of brain
  - (b) Metastatic carcinoma of lung

<u>Code to</u> 162.9.

- I (a) Cancer of lung
  - (b) Metastatic cancer of brain

<u>Code to</u> 162.9.

I. Leukemia

Acute exacerbation of or blastic crisis in chronic leukemia should be coded to the chronic form.

Example: I (a) Acute and chronic lymphatic leukemia

Code to 204.1 (chronic lymphatic leukemia).

Acute leukemia of any type should be coded to the acute form regardless of the interval betwen onset and death.

When a condition classifiable to categories 200-202 is reported as terminating in leukemia, code to 200-202.

\*J. Certain neoplasms reported with Human Immunodeficiency Virus (HIV) infection (0420-0429).

173	OTHER MALIGNANT NEOPLASM OF SKIN		
	EXCLUDES Kapo 042.9 043.0-043.9 044.0-044.9	osi's sarcoma with conditions in: Acquired immunodeficiency syndrome, unspecified Human immunodeficiency virus infection causing other specified conditions Other human immunodeficiency virus infection)	} (042.2)
200.0	RETICULOSARC	OMA	
	042.9	litions in 200.0 with conditions in: Acquired immunodeficiency syndrome, unspecified Human immunodeficiency virus infection causing other specified conditions Other human immunodeficiency virus infection)	} (042.2)
200.2		OR	
}	EXCLUDES cond 042.9 043.0-043.9 044.0-044.9	litions in 200.2 with conditions in: Acquired immunodeficiency syndrome, unspecified Human immunodeficiency virus infection causing other specified conditions Other human immunodeficiency virus infection)	} } (042.2) }
200.8	OTHER NAMED	VARIANTS LYMPHOSARCOMA AND RETICULOSAF	RCOMA
}	EXCLUDES imm 042.9 043.0-043.9	unoblastic sarcoma with conditions in: Acquired immunodeficiency syndrome, unspecified Human immunodeficiency virus infection causing other specified conditions	} } (042.2)
J	044.0-044.9	Other human immunodeficiency virus infection)	}

202.8 OTHER LYMPHOMAS

EXCLUDES primary lymphoma of brain with conditions in:

042.9 043.0-043.9	Acquired immunodeficiency syndrome, unspecified Human immunodeficiency virus infection causing other specified conditions	} (042.2)
044.0-044.9	Other human immunodeficiency virus infection)	}

## 244.0 POSTSURGICAL HYPOTHYROIDISM

Not to be used for underlying cause mortality coding. If the reason for the surgery is not known and this information cannot be obtained, code to 246.9. See Operations, page 50.

## 251.3 POSTSURGICAL HYPOINSULINEMIA

Not to be used for underlying cause mortality coding. If the reason for the surgery is not known and this information cannot be obtained, code to 577.9. See Operations, page 50.

## 268.1 LATE EFFECTS OF RICKETS

The "late effects" INCLUDE any condition specified as rachitic or due to rickets and present 1 year or more after onset, or stated to be a late effect or sequela of rickets.

## 292 DRUG PSYCHOSIS

EXCLUDES with mention of drug dependence (304).

## 293-294 TRANSIENT AND OTHER ORGANIC PSYCHOTIC CONDITIONS

## 299.1 DISINTEGRATIVE PSYCHOSIS

Not to be used if the underlying physical condition is known.

80

## 303 ALCOHOL DEPENDENCE SYNDROME

## EXCLUDES with:

alcoholic psychosis in 291.0-291.3, 291.5-291.9 (291.0-291.3, 291.5-291.9) physical complication such as:

cirrhosis of liver (571.2) epilepsy (345) gastritis (535.3)

## 304 DRUG DEPENDENCE

INCLUDES drug dependence with mention of acute narcotism, drug abuse (acute), overdose of, intoxication by, or poisoning by dependence-producing drugs, accidental or undetermined whether accidental or purposeful.

## 305.1 NONDEPENDENT ABUSE OF TOBACCO

EXCLUDES when reported as the underlying cause of physical conditions such as:

bronchitis (490-491) emphysema (492) ischemic heart disease (410-414)

## 310 SPECIFIC NONPSYCHOTIC MENTAL DISORDERS FOLLOWING ORGANIC BRAIN DAMAGE

### 317-319 MENTAL RETARDATION

Not to be used if the underlying physical condition is known.

## 326 LATE EFFECTS OF INTRACRANIAL ABSCESS OR PYOGENIC INFECTION

The "late effects" INCLUDE conditions in 320-325 specified as such, or as sequela, or present 1 year or more after onset.

## 331.0 ALZHEIMER'S DISEASE

331.1 PICK'S DISEASE

EXCLUDES with mention of dementia (290.1).

## 331.2 SENILE DEGENERATION OF BRAIN

EXCLUDES with mention of dementia (290.0).

## 342 HEMIPLEGIA

Not to be used if the cause of the hemiplegia is known.

## 343 INFANTILE CEREBRAL PALSY

This category INCLUDES cerebral paralysis as a late effect of conditions in categories 760-779, Certain conditions originating in the perinatal period, when death occurs at age 28 days and over.

Examples: Male 2 years

- I (a) Pneumonia
  - (b) Cerebral palsy
  - (c) Traumatic birth

<u>Code to</u> cerebral palsy (343.9), since "paralysis" is mentioned and the child lived past the neonatal period (28 days).

Female 7 years

- I (a) Pneumonia
  - (b) Cerebral palsy
  - (c) Anoxia at birth

Code to cerebral palsy, the late effect of anoxia at birth (343.9).

## 344 OTHER PARALYTIC SYNDROMES

Not to be used if the cause of the paralysis is known.

## 345 EPILEPSY

INCLUDES accidents resulting from epilepsy.

EXCLUDES epilepsy due to trauma (code to the appropriate categories in Chapter XVII and in the Supplementary E Code; if the nature and cause of injury is not known, code to 854.0 and E928.9).

#### 369 BLINDNESS AND LOW VISION

Not to be used if the antecedent condition is known.

## 383.3 COMPLICATIONS FOLLOWING MASTOIDECTOMY

Not to be used for underlying cause mortality coding. If the reason for the surgery is not known and this information cannot be obtained, code to 385.9. See Operations, page 50.

#### 389 DEAFNESS

Not to be used if the antecedent condition is known.

## 390-398 ACUTE AND CHRONIC RHEUMATIC HEART DISEASES

\* Multiple heart conditions with one heart condition specified as rheumatic: If any disease of the heart is stated to be of rheumatic origin, or is specified to be rheumatic, such qualifications will apply to each specific heart (classifiable to 420, 421.9, 422, 423, 424, 425.9, 429.0, .1, .2, .3, .8, .9) condition reported, even though it is not so qualified, unless another origin such as arteriosclerosis is mentioned.

				<u>Codes for Record</u>
Examples:	Ι	(a)	Acute bacterial endocarditis	421.0
		(b)	Myocarditis	398.0
		(c)	Rheumatic endocarditis	397.9

<u>Code to</u> rheumatic endocarditis (397.9), selected by the General rule. If the rheumatic endocarditis had been reported in Part II, rheumatic myocarditis would have been selected.

			Codes for Record
I	(a)	Acute congestive failure	428.0
	(b)	Hypertensive myocarditis	402.9
	(c)	Rheumatic endocarditis	397.9

Code to hypertensive myocarditis (402.9), selected by Rule 1.

### 391 RHEUMATIC FEVER WITH HEART INVOLVEMENT

This category INCLUDES active rheumatic heart disease. If there is no statement that the rheumatic process was active at the time of death, assume activity (391 with fourth digits .0, .1, .2, .8, or .9) for each rheumatic heart disease (393-398) on the certificate in any one of the following situations.

A. Rheumatic fever or any rheumatic heart disease is stated to be active or recurrent

			Codes for Record
Example:	Ι	(a) Mitral stenosis	391.1
		(b) Active rheumatic myocarditis	391.2

<u>Code to</u> other active rheumatic heart disease (391.8). Active rheumatic myocarditis (391.2) is selected by the General rule and rheumatic mitral stenosis is classified to 391.1 when it is reported with an active rheumatic heart disease. Therefore, the underlying cause is 391.8 since this category includes multiple types of heart involvement.

B. The duration of rheumatic fever is less than 1 year

					Codes for Record
Example:	Τ	(a)	Congestive heart fail	ilure	391.8
		(b)	Rheumatic fever	2 months	390

<u>Code to</u> other active rheumatic heart disease (391.8).

C. One or more of the heart diseases is stated to be acute or subacute (this does not apply to "rheumatic fever" stated to be acute or subacute)

		Codes for Record
Examples:	I (a) Acute myocardial dilatation	391.8
	(b) Rheumatic fever	390

Code to other active rheumatic heart disease (391.8).

		Codes for Record
I	(a) Acute myocardial insufficiency	391.2
	(b) Rheumatic fever	390

Code to active rheumatic myocarditis (391.2).

D. The term "pericarditis" is mentioned

				Codes for Record
Example:	Ι	(a)	Acute pericarditis	391.0
		(b)	Rheumatic mitral stenosis	391.1

<u>Code to</u> other acute rheumatic heart disease (391.8) which includes multiple heart involvement.

Codeo for Decord

84

E. The term(s) "carditis," "endocarditis," (aortic) (mitral) (pulmonary) (tricuspid), "myocarditis," "pancarditis," or "heart disease" with a stated duration of less than 1 year is mentioned

390

						Codes for Record
Example:	Ι	(a)	Congestive he	eart failu	re	428.0
		(b)	Endocarditis		6 mos	391.1

(c) Rheumatic fever 10 yrs

Code to active rheumatic endocarditis (391.1).

F. The term(s) in E. without a duration is mentioned and the age of the decedent is less than 15 years

		Codes for Record
Example:	Age 5 years	
	I (a) Mitral and aortic endocarditis	391.1
	(b) Rheumatic fever	390

Code to active rheumatic endocarditis (391.1).

## 394.9 DISEASES OF MITRAL VALVE, OTHER AND UNSPECIFIED

EXCLUDES the listed conditions when of unspecified cause with conditions in 424.0 (424.0).

## 397 DISEASES OF OTHER ENDOCARDIAL STRUCTURES

EXCLUDES with conditions in:

- 394 (Diseases of mitral valve) (394)
- 395 (Diseases of aortic valve) (395)
- 396 (Diseases of mitral and aortic valves) (396)

## 397.1 RHEUMATIC DISEASES OF PULMONARY VALVE

EXCLUDES with conditions in:

397.0 (Diseases of tricuspid valve) (397.0)

## 401 ESSENTIAL HYPERTENSION

402

403

EXCLUDES conditions in 401 with mention of conditions in:

(Hypertensive heart disease) (402) (Hypertensive renal disease) (403)

404 (Hypertensive heart and renal disease) (404) 410-414 (Ischemic heart disease) (410-414) (Cerebrovascular disease) (430-438) 430-438 (Nephritis and nephrotic syndrome) (580-581) 580-581 582-583 (Nephritis except "nephropathy (chronic)" and "chronic renal disease") (582-583) 585 Chronic renal failure 586 Renal failure unspecified --(403) (Hypertensive renal disease) Renal sclerosis unspecified 587 EXCLUDES conditions in 401 when reported as the underlying cause of: 362.1 (Retinopathy) (362.1) 394.0 Mitral stenosis not specified as rheumatic (424.0) Mitral stenosis with insufficiency not specified as 394.2 rheumatic (424.0) 394.9 Other and unspecified diseases of mitral valve not specified as rheumatic (424.0) 396 Diseases of mitral and aortic valves not specified as rheumatic (424.0) Diseases of tricuspid valve not specified as 397.0 rheumatic (424.2) (Other diseases of endocardium) (424) 424 428 Heart failure 429.0 Myocarditis, unspecified Myocardial degeneration 429.1 429.2 Cardiovascular disease, unspecified -(402)(Hypertensive 429.3 Cardiomegaly heart disease) Other ill-defined heart disease 429.8 429.9 Unspecified descriptions of heart disease "Chronic nephropathy" or "chronic renal disease," only 582.9 "Nephropathy," only 583.9 - (403) "Renal disease," only 593.9

## 402 HYPERTENSIVE HEART DISEASE

EXCLUDES conditions in 402 with conditions in:

403	Hypertensive renal disease	- (404)
404	(Hypertensive heart and rena	l disease)
410-414	(Ischemic heart disease) (410	9-414)
585	Chronic renal failure	
586	Renal failure, unspecified	(404) (Hypertensive heart and renal
587	Renal sclerosis, unspecified	disease)

## 403 HYPERTENSIVE RENAL DISEASE

EXCLUDES conditions in 403 with conditions in:

402	Hypertensive heart disease	}
404	(Hypertensive heart and renal disease)	<sup>}</sup> - (404)
410-414	(Ischemic heart disease) (410-414)	

EXCLUDES conditions in 403 when reported as the underlying cause of:

428	Heart failure	}
429.0	Myocarditis	ł
429.1	Myocardial degeneration	}
429.2	Cardiovascular disease, unspecified	{-(404)
429.3	Cardiomegaly	}
429.8	Other ill-defined descriptions of heart disease	}
429.9	Unspecified, ill-defined descriptions of heart disease	}

## 404 HYPERTENSIVE HEART AND RENAL DISEASE

EXCLUDES conditions in 404 with conditions in:

410-414 (Ischemic heart disease) (410-414)

## 405 SECONDARY HYPERTENSION

Not to be used for underlying cause mortality coding.

## 411 OTHER ACUTE AND SUBACUTE FORMS OF ISCHEMIC HEART DISEASE

- 412 OLD MYOCARDIAL INFARCTION
- 413 ANGINA PECTORIS
- 414 OTHER FORMS OF CHRONIC ISCHEMIC HEART DISEASE

EXCLUDES conditions in 411-414 with conditions in:

410 (Acute myocardial infarction) (410)

## 416.9 PULMONARY HEART DISEASE, UNSPECIFIED

EXCLUDES conditions in 416.9 with conditions in:

737.3 Kyphoscoliosis and scoliosis (416.1) (Kyphoscoliotic heart disease)

EXCLUDES any condition in 416.9 when any pulmonary condition is reported as the underlying cause - CODE the pulmonary condition.

)

## 424 OTHER DISEASES OF ENDOCARDIUM

When more than one valve is mentioned, priority in classification is in the order listed, i.e., mitral (.0), aortic (.1), tricuspid (.2), pulmonary (.3).

## 426 CONDUCTION DISORDERS

427 CARDIAC DYSRHYTHMIAS

EXCLUDES conditions in 426-427 with conditions in:

410-414 (Ischemic heart disease) (410-414)

## 428 HEART FAILURE

EXCLUDES conditions in 428 with conditions in:

410-414 (Ischemic heart disease) (410-414) 737.3 Kyphoscoliosis and scoliosis (416.1) (Kyphoscoliotic heart disease)

## 428.9 HEART FAILURE, UNSPECIFIED

EXCLUDES conditions in 428.9 with conditions in:

- 518.4 Acute edema of lung, unspecified (428.1) (left heart failure)
- 429.0 MYOCARDITIS
- 429.1 MYOCARDIAL DEGENERATION
- 429.2 CARDIOVASCULAR DISEASE
- 429.3 CARDIOMEGALY

EXCLUDES conditions in 429.0-.3 with conditions in:

410-414 (Ischemic heart disease) (410-414)

## 429.4 FUNCTIONAL DISTURBANCES FOLLOWING CARDIAC SURGERY

Not to be used for underlying cause coding. If the reason for the surgery is not known and this reason cannot be obtained, CODE to 429.9. See rules for Operations, page 50.

#### 429.5 RUPTURE OF CHORDAE TENDINAE

429.6 RUPTURE OF PAPILLARY MUSCLE

429.8 OTHER ILL-DEFINED DESCRIPTIONS OF HEART DISEASE

EXCLUDES conditions in above categories with conditions in:

410-414 (Ischemic heart disease) (410-414)

## 429.9 UNSPECIFIED DESCRIPTIONS OF HEART DISEASE

EXCLUDES conditions in 429.9 with conditions in:

410-414	(Ischemic heart disease) (410-414)
518.4	Acute edema of lung, unspecified (428.1) (Left heart failure)
737.3	Kyphoscoliosis and scoliosis (416.1) (Kyphoscoliotic heart disease)

## 437.0 CEREBRAL ATHEROSCLEROSIS

EXCLUDES conditions in 437.0 with conditions in:

430-434	(Cerebral hemorrhage and infarction) (430-434)
436	(Acute but ill-defined cerebrovascular disease) (436)

EXCLUDES conditions in 437.0 when reported as the underlying cause of conditions in:

294.9	Dementia, unspecified (290.4) (Arteriosclerotic dementia)
332.0	(Paralysis agitans) (332.0)

### 438 LATE EFFECTS OF CEREBROVASCULAR DISEASE

The "late effects" INCLUDE conditions in 430-437 specified as such or as sequela. "Late effects" also INCLUDE chronic conditions reported as due to, or residual conditions present 1 year or more after onset of conditions classifiable to 430-432, 434, 436, 4376, and "embolism" and "thrombosis" only in 433.

### Example: I (a) Pneumonia

- (b) Sepsis and pulmonary congestion
- (c) Cerebral infarction 2 years ago

<u>Code to</u> late effects of cerebral infarction (438) since the interval between onset and death is over 1 year.

## 440 ATHEROSCLEROSIS

EXCLUDES conditions in 440 with conditions in:

	(Hypertensive disease) (401-404) (Ischemic heart disease) (410-414) (Myocarditis, unspecified) (429.0) (Myocardial degeneration) (429.1) (Cardiovascular disease, unspecified) (429.2) (Cerebrovascular disease) (430-438)		
EXCLUDES	conditions in 440 when reported as the underl	ying cause o	of:
394.0 .2	Mitral stenosis not specified as rheumatic Mitral stenosis with insufficiency not specified as rheumatic	•	
.9	Other and unspecified diseases of mitral valve not specified as rheumatic	(424.0)	
396	Diseases of mitral and aortic valves not	• •	
397.0	Diseases of tricuspid valve not specified as rh	eumatic (42	4.2)
424	(Other diseases of endocardium) (424)		
441-447	(Other diseases of arteries and arterioles) (44	1-447)	
557	(Vascular insufficiency of intestine) (557)		l
582.8	"Chronic interstitial nephritis" only	<	
582.9	"Chronic Bright's disease," "chronic nephritis," nephropathy," and "chronic renal disease" (		}
583.8	"Interstitial nephritis" only	5	(403)
583.9	"Bright's disease," "nephritis," and "nephropat	hy" only	}
587	Renal sclerosis, unspecified	2	} l
593.9	"Renal disease N0S," only	ļ	ſ

### 440.9 ATHEROSCLEROSIS, GENERALIZED AND UNSPECIFIED

EXCLUDES conditions in 440.9 only with:

785.4 Gangrene (440.2) (Atherosclerosis of arteries of extremities)

EXCLUDES conditions in 440.9 only when reported as the underlying cause of:

294.9 Dementia, unspecified (290.4) (Arteriosclerotic dementia) 332.0 (Paralysis agitans) (332.0)

### 457.0 POSTMASTECTOMY SYNDROME

Not to be used for underlying cause mortality coding. If the reason for surgery is not known and this information cannot be obtained, CODE to 611.9. See rules for Operations, page 50.

460 ACUTE NASOPHARYNGITIS (COMMON COLD)

## 465 ACUTE UPPER RESPIRATORY INFECTIONS OF MULTIPLE AND UNSPECIFIED SITES

EXCLUDES when reported as the underlying cause of serious conditions such as:

meningitis (322.9) intracranial abscess (324.0) otitis media (381, 382) mastoiditis and related conditions (383) pneumonia and influenza (480-483, 485-487) bronchitis and bronchiolitis (466, 490, 491) acute nephritis (580.0-580.9)

#### 466.0 ACUTE BRONCHITIS

EXCLUDES with conditions in 491 (Chronic bronchitis) (491)

### 490 BRONCHITIS NOT SPECIFIED AS ACUTE OR CHRONIC

EXCLUDES with conditions in:

492 (Emphysema) (491.2)496 (Chronic airways obstruction, not elsewhere classified) (491.2)

### 491.9 CHRONIC BRONCHITIS, UNSPECIFIED

EXCLUDES with conditions in 492 (Emphysema) (491.2)

EXCLUDES when selected as the underlying cause (see note at category 493) if asthma is also mentioned (491.2).

#### 492 EMPHYSEMA

EXCLUDES with conditions in:

- 490 (Bronchitis not specified as acute or chronic) (491.2)
- 491 (Chronic bronchitis) (491.2)

493 ASTHMA

When asthma and bronchitis (acute) (chronic) are separately reported on the same certificate as the causes of death, the underlying cause should be selected by applying the General rule or Rules 1, 2, or 3 in the normal way. Neither term should be treated as an adjectival modifier of the other.

## 500 COALWORKER'S PNEUMOCONIOSIS

- 501 ASBESTOSIS
- 502 PNEUMOCONIOSIS DUE TO OTHER SILICA OR SILICATES
- 505 PNEUMOCONIOSIS, UNSPECIFIED

EXCLUDES with conditions in 011 (Pulmonary tuberculosis) (011)

## 518.4 ACUTE EDEMA OF LUNG, UNSPECIFIED

EXCLUDES with conditions in:

- 428.9 (Heart failure, unspecified) (428.1)
- 429.9 (Unspecified descriptions of heart disease) (428.1)

### 564.2 POSTGASTRIC SURGERY SYNDROME

- 564.3 VOMITING FOLLOWING GASTROINTESTINAL SURGERY
- 569.6 COLOSTOMY OR ENTEROSTOMY MALFUNCTION
- 576.0 POSTCHOLECYSTECTOMY SYNDROME
- 579.2 BLIND LOOP SYNDROME
- 579.3 OTHER AND UNSPECIFIED POSTSURGICAL NONABSORPTION

Not to be used for underlying cause mortality coding. If the reason for the surgery is not known and this information cannot be obtained, code to 537.9, 537.9, 569.9, 575.9, 569.9, and 569.9 respectively. See Operations, page 50.

### 580 ACUTE GLOMERULONEPHRITIS

EXCLUDE when reported as the underlying cause of conditions in 582 (Chronic glomerulonephritis) (582).

## 585 CHRONIC RENAL FAILURE

- 586 RENAL FAILURE, UNSPECIFIED
- 587 RENAL SCLEROSIS, UNSPECIFIED

EXCLUDES with conditions in:

- 401 (Essential hypertension) (403)
- 402 (Hypertensive heart disease) (404)
- 403 (Hypertensive renal disease) (403)
- 404 (Hypertensive heart and renal disease) (404)

## 606 INFERTILITY, MALE

628 INFERTILITY, FEMALE

Not to be used if the causative condition is known.

## 630-638 PREGNANCY WITH ABORTIVE OUTCOME

When a condition classifiable to one of these categories is reported with a complication (conditions listed in 639), code the underlying cause to 630-638 even though a condition listed in categories 647-648 is reported.

When a condition classifiable to 630-638 is reported without mention of a complication, a condition listed in 647-648 is preferred.

## 639 COMPLICATIONS FOLLOWING ABORTION AND ECTOPIC AND MOLAR PREGNANCIES

Not to be used for underlying cause mortality coding.

The following three-digit codes will be used for the underlying cause of death. NCHS will not use the fourth digits.

640-641 643-645 650-676

640-648 COMPLICATIONS MAINLY RELATED TO PREGNANCY

650-659 NORMAL DELIVERY, AND OTHER INDICATIONS FOR CARE IN PREGNANCY, LABOR AND DELIVERY

660-669 COMPLICATIONS OCCURRING MAINLY IN THE COURSE OF LABOR AND DELIVERY

670-676 COMPLICATIONS OF PUERPERIUM

Priority in classification is given to a direct obstetric cause (640-646, 651-676) over an indirect obstetric cause (647-648).

#### 94

#### 652 MALPOSITION AND MALPRESENTATION OF FETUS

EXCLUDES with condition in 653 (Disproportion) (653)

#### 737.3 KYPHOSCOLIOSIS AND SCOLIOSIS

EXCLUDES with conditions in:

- 416.9 (Pulmonary heart disease, unspecified) (416.1)
- 428 (Heart failure) (416.1)
- 429.9 (Unspecified descriptions of heart disease) (416.1)

760-779 CERTAIN CONDITIONS ORIGINATING IN THE PERINATAL PERIOD

EXCLUDES residual cerebral paralysis at ages four weeks or over (333.7, 343).

- 765 DISORDERS RELATING TO SHORT GESTATION AND UNSPECIFIED LOW BIRTHWEIGHT
- 766 DISORDERS RELATING TO LONG GESTATION AND HIGH BIRTHWEIGHT

Not to be used if any other cause of perinatal mortality is reported.

- 768.0 FETAL DEATH FROM ASPHYXIA OR ANOXIA BEFORE ONSET OF LABOR OR AT UNSPECIFIED TIME
- 768.1 FETAL DEATH FROM ASPHYXIA OR ANOXIA DURING LABOR

These categories are not to be used for underlying cause of death.

\*795.8 POSITIVE SEROLOGICAL OR VIRAL CULTURE FINDINGS FOR OTHER HUMAN IMMUNODEFICIENCY VIRUS INFECTION

Not to be used for underlying cause of death coding.

798.0 SUDDEN INFANT DEATH SYNDROME

This category INCLUDES the following terms causing death at ages under 1 year.

Cot death Crib death SDII, SID, SIDS, SUD, SUDI, SUID Sleep apnea syndrome Sudden (unexpected) (unattended) (unexplained) death (cause unknown) (in infancy) (syndrome) infant death (syndrome)

EXCLUDES the listed conditions causing death at ages 1 year or over (798.1).

## E800-E999 SUPPLEMENTARY CLASSIFICATION OF EXTERNAL CAUSES OF INJURY AND POISONING (E CODE)

The E Code will be used for single cause tabulation of the underlying cause of death when the morbid condition is classifiable to Chapter XVII Injury and Poisoning.

- A. <u>Successive external causes</u>. Where successive external events operate to cause death, assignment is to the initiating event except where this was a trivial accident leading to a more serious one. In the latter case, the trivial event may be disregarded.
- B. <u>Slight injuries</u>. When a slight injury is involved as a cause of death, the Rules for Selection are applied. Slight injuries are trivial conditions rarely causing death unless a more serious condition such as tetanus resulted from the slight injury. Therefore, where a slight injury is selected, Rule 6, Trivial conditions is usually applicable. For the purpose of these rules, slight injuries comprise superficial injuries such as:

exposure NOS
minor cut
prick
puncture except trunk
scratch
splinter

For slight injury resulting in erysipelas, tetanus, or septicemia, see categories 035, 037, and 038 on page 60.

- C. <u>Accident information entered in space outside Part I and Part II</u>. When information concerning an accident is reported only in a space specifically provided for such information outside of Parts I and II of the Medical Certificate Section, inquiry should be made concerning the relationship of the accident to the death and to the other causes reported. If no information is received from the inquiry, the assignment is made by application of the Rules for Selection to the causes reported in Parts I and II.
- D. <u>Accident due to disease condition</u>. When a disease condition, such as cerebral hemorrhage, heart attack, diabetic coma, or alcoholism is indicated by the certifier to be the underlying cause of an accident, the assignment is made to the accidental cause unless there is evidence that the death occurred prior to the accident. This provision does not pertain to:
  - 1. asphyxia from aspiration of mucus or vomitus as a result of a disease condition.
  - 2. a fall from a pathological fracture or disease of the bone.

- 3. aspiration of milk or other food due to diseases which presumably affect the ability to control the process of swallowing, for example, cancer of the throat or a disease resulting in paralysis.
- 4. accidents resulting from epilepsy (345).
- E. Found injured on highway. See category E819 in Volume 1.
- F. <u>Complication of trauma for purposes of applying Selection Rule 3</u>. See note under Selection Rule 3, page 24.

## E800-E845 TRANSPORTATION ACCIDENT

In all of the transport accidents (E800-E845), the fourth digit represents the status of the victim, i.e., whether the decedent was pedestrian, pedal cyclist, occupant of vehicle, stevedore, employee, etc. For each means of transportation, there is a different set of fourth digits. Each means of transportation is preceded by its set of fourth digits in Volume 1.

See also Definitions and examples relating to transport accidents, Volume 1, pages 547-552.

When multiple deaths occur from the same transportation accident, all the certifications should be examined, and when appropriate, the information obtained from one may be applied to all. For example, if the pilot of an aircraft is found to have been a military pilot, deaths of all persons on the plane should be assigned to .1 Occupants of military aircraft. If the pilot is reported to have been a commercial transport pilot, the deaths should be charged to injury in commercial "transport" aircraft, .2 Crew or .3 Other occupants of commercial aircraft.

There may be other information available such as newspaper articles. A query should be sent to the certifier if necessary to obtain the information.

## E810-E819 MOTOR VEHICLE TRAFFIC ACCIDENTS

A motor vehicle accident is assumed to be a traffic accident occurring on the trafficway unless another place is specified.

In classifying motor vehicle traffic accidents, a victim of less than 14 years of age is assumed to be a passenger provided there is evidence that the decedent was an occupant of a motor vehicle. A statement such as "thrown from car," "struck head on dashboard," or "carbon monoxide poisoning" is sufficient.

Examples: Male 22

- I (a) Massive intrathoracic and
  - (b) abdominal hemorrhage
  - (c) Auto vs. motor bike accident

<u>Code to</u> unspecified person in a motor vehicle traffic accident involving collision with another motor vehicle (E812.9).

Male 26

- I (a) Fractures of ribs, pelvis, femur
  - (b) Contusions of pancreas and kidney
  - (c) Hemorrhage
- Acc. Was driver of motorcycle which collided with taxicab.

Code to motorcyclist involving collision with another motor vehicle (E812.2).

Female 4

- I (a) Fractured skull
  - (b) Struck head on windshield when car
  - (c) struck tree felled across road by lightning

<u>Code to</u> passenger of motor vehicle involving collision with object on trafficway (E815.1).

Male 22

- I (a) Third degree burns
  - (b) Auto accident car overturned
  - (c) Acute alcoholism

<u>Code to</u> unspecified person in a car overturning without antecedent collision on roadway or subsequent collision on highway (E816.9).

## E820-E825 MOTOR VEHICLE NONTRAFFIC ACCIDENTS

## E820 NONTRAFFIC ACCIDENT INVOLVING MOTOR DRIVEN SNOW VEHICLES

This category includes accidents involving a snowmobile unless there is evidence that the accident occurred on the highway. A collision between a motor vehicle and a snowmobile will beclassified as a traffic accident unless specified as nontraffic.

Examples: Female 12

- I (a) Head injuries
  - (b) Overturning snowmobile

<u>Code to</u> unspecified person in a nontraffic accident involving motor-driven snow vehicle (E820.9).

Male 27

- I (a) Multiple injuries
  - (b) Driver of snowmobile which collided with auto

<u>Code to</u> driver of motor vehicle involved in collision with another motor vehicle (E812.0).

\*E821 NONTRAFFIC ACCIDENT INVOLVING OTHER OFF-ROAD MOTOR VEHICLE

This category includes accidents involving All-Terrain Vehicles (ATV) unless there is evidence the accident occurred on the highway. When on road use is indicated, classification is made to categories E810-E819. ATV's are not to be classified as motorcycles, therefore, 4th digit for driver of ATV would be .0, passenger .1, etc.

Examples: Male 10

- I (a) Fracture skull
  - (b) ATV accident

<u>Code to</u> unspecified person in a nontraffic accident involving all-terrain vehicle (E821.9).

Female 18

- I (a) Injuries of head and spine
  - (b) Fracture both legs
  - (c) Driver of ATV collided with auto

<u>Code to</u> driver of motor vehicle involved incollision with another motor vehicle (E812.0)

## E840-E845 AIR AND SPACE TRANSPORT ACCIDENTS

For air and space transport accidents, it will be assumed that the ictim was an occupant.

Where death of military personnel is reported with no specification as to whether the airplane was a military craft, other information on the certificate may be used for making the proper assignment.

Where there is a single death, the information that the decedent was a member of the Air Force or was a military pilot, and was at work, will be considered as indicating military aircraft.

## E850-E858 ACCIDENTAL POISONING BY DRUGS, MEDICAMENTS AND BIOLOGICALS

These categories include deaths due to drug poisoning, accidental overdose of drug, wrong drug given or taken in error, and drug taken inadvertently, whether or not the drug was given in treatment.

## Examples: Male 2 years

- (a) Overdose of aspirin
  - (b) Flu and cold
  - (c)
- II Aspirin given for fever 10 days

Code to E850.1 accidental poisoning by salicylates

Female 29 years I (a) Poisoning by barbiturates

Code to E851 accidental poisoning by barbiturates

EXCLUDES poisoning, accidental or undetermined whether accidental or purposeful, if drug dependence is mentioned (304).

When components of combinations of medicinal agents classifiable to E850-E858 are involved, proceed as follows:

- A. If one component of the combination is specified as the cause of death, code to that component.
- B. If one component is not specified as the cause of death, code to the category provided for the combination, e.g., mixed sedatives (E852.5).
- C. If the components are classified to the same three-digit category, code to the appropriate subcategory for "Other;" if the components are classified to different three-digit categories, code to E858.8.

D. Combinations of medicinal agents with alcohol should be coded to the medicinal agent.

Examples: Male 25

- I (a) Acute respiratory failure due to
  - (b) synergistic action of alcohol
  - (c) and darvon compound

Code to accidental poisoning by other nonnarcotic analgesics (E850.5).

Male 40

I (a) Alcohol and barbiturate intoxication

<u>Code to</u> accidental poisoning by barbiturates (E851). Alcoholic intoxication or poisoning reported in combination with medicinal agents is classified to poisoning by the medicinal agents.

### E868.2 ACCIDENTAL POISONING BY MOTOR VEHICLE EXHAUST GAS

Deaths from carbon monoxide poisoning from motor vehicle exhaust gas which occur while "sleeping in car" or while "sitting in car" with no indication that the car was in transit will be coded to this category rather than to motor vehicle accident (E818, E825).

# E870-E876 MISADVENTURE TO PATIENTS DURING SURGICAL AND MEDICAL CARE

These categories are limited to deaths explicitly indicated to be the result of an error or accident during medical care. Deaths due to error or accident are classified here whether or not the condition requiring treatment is stated. (See Rule 12.)

Examples:	Male 50 years	Codes for Record
	I (a) Shock	785.5
	(b) Laceration of liver	998.2
	(c) Needle biopsy	E870.5

<u>Code to</u> accidental cut (laceration) during needle biopsy (E870.5). "Laceration" is an explicit indication of accident during medical care.

Female 25 years	Codes for Record
I (a) Peritonitis	567.9
(b) Perforated jejunum	998.2
(c) Laparotomy for	E870.0
carcinoma of small bowel	152.9

<u>Code to</u> accidental perforation during a surgical procedure (E870.0). Classification is made to the accident in medical care even though the reason for surgery was stated. See Rule 12.

100

E878-E879 SURGICAL AND MEDICAL PROCEDURES AS THE CAUSE OF ABNORMAL REACTION OF PATIENT OR LATER COMPLICATION, WITHOUT MENTION OF MISADVENTURE AT THE TIME OF PROCEDURE

A complication or reaction classifiable to categories 996-999 may be used as a guide to indicate that a death should be classified to E878-E879. Most terminal conditions may be considered a complication when reported due to a procedure and may be classified to the appropriate Nature of injury code except when the complication is specifically classified elsewhere, i.e., Post-operative pulmonary insufficiency (518.5) or post-operative pulmonary edema (518.4).

Examples:	Male 60 years	Codes for Record
	I (a) Pneumonia	997.3
	(b) Operation	E878.9

<u>Code to</u> surgical procedure as the cause of abnormal reaction of patient (E878.9). Post-operative pneumonia is indexed to Chapter XVII, therefore, code the appropriate E Code.

Female 75 years	Codes for Record
I (a) Renal failure	997.5
(b) Surgery	E878.9
(c)	

<u>Code to</u> surgical procedure as the cause of abnormal reaction of patient (E878.9). Renal failure reported due to surgery is considered a complication of surgery and classified to 997.5, therefore, code the appropriate E Code.

- E878 SURGICAL OPERATION AND OTHER SURGICAL PROCEDURES AS THE CAUSE OF ABNORMAL REACTION TO PATIENT, OR OF LATER COMPLICATION, WITHOUT MENTION OF MISADVENTURE AT THE TIME OF OPERATION
- E879 OTHER PROCEDURES, WITHOUT MENTION OF MISADVENTURE AT THE TIME OF PROCEDURE, AS THE CAUSE OF ABNORMAL REACTION OF PATIENT, OR OF LATER COMPLICATION

These categories are not to be used if the reason for treatment is indicated or if the complication of treatment is specifically indexed to Chapters 1-16.

Examples:

Male 75 years	Codes for Record
I (a) Heart failure	997.1
(b) Gastrectomy	E878.6
(c) Carcinoma of stomach	151.9

<u>Code to</u> malignant neoplasm of stomach (151.9), the condition necessitating the treatment.

Female 90 years	Codes for Record
I (a) Pulmonary insufficiency	518.5
(b) Surgery	E878.9

<u>Code to</u> pulmonary insufficiency following trauma and surgery (518.5). The E Code for surgery is not used since post-operative pulmonary insufficiency is classified specifically to Chapter VIII.

E908 CATACLYSMIC STORMS AND FLOODS RESULTING FROM STORMS

E909 CATACLYSMIC EARTH SURFACE MOVEMENTS AND ERUPTIONS

These categories INCLUDE accidents resulting directly from forces over which man has no control, but EXCLUDES those resulting indirectly through a second event which is classified to the causative agent involved in the subsequent accident.

Examples: I (a) Drowned

(b) Car which decedent was driving was washed

(c) away with bridge during hurricane

<u>Code to</u> cataclysm (E908). The drowning accident was a direct result of the hurricane.

- I (a) Suffocated by smoke
  - (b) Home burned after being
  - (c) struck by lightning

<u>Code to</u> accident caused by conflagration in private dwelling (E890.2). Category E907 includes only those injuries resulting from direct contact with lightning.

- I (a) Suffocation
  - (b) Covered by landslide

Code to accident due to other natural and environmental factors (E909).

- I (a) Ruptured diaphragm
  - (b) Driver of auto which struck
  - (c) landslide covering road

<u>Code to</u> other motor vehicle traffic accident involving collision with landslide on trafficway (E815.0).

- E911 INHALATION AND INGESTION OF FOOD CAUSING OBSTRUCTION OF RESPIRATORY TRACT OR SUFFOCATION
- E912 INHALATION AND INGESTION OF OTHER OBJECT CAUSING OBSTRUCTION OF RESPIRATORY TRACT OR SUFFOCATION

EXCLUDES conditions in the above categories when reported as the underlying cause of:

- 485 Bronchopneumonia, organism unspecified (507) (Pneumonitis due to solids and liquids)
- 486 Pneumonia, organism unspecified (507) (Pneumonitis due to solids and liquids)
- 507 (Pneumonitis due to solids and liquids) (507)

#### E913.0 SUFFOCATION IN BED OR CRADLE

This category INCLUDES suffocation of infants "while asleep" NOS.

#### E929 LATE EFFECTS OF ACCIDENTAL INJURY

This category with the appropriate fourth digit INCLUDES late effects of external causes of injuries classified to E800-E869, E880-E928. The "late effects" include:

- A. stated residuals or sequela of accidents
- B. injuries described as old, healed or malunion of fracture
- C. accidents when interval between occurrence and death is 1 year or more
- D. injuries or trauma with a resultant chronic condition.

# E930-E949 DRUGS, MEDICAMENTS AND BIOLOGICAL SUBSTANCES CAUSING ADVERSE EFFECTS IN THERAPEUTIC USE

These categories are to be used only when death results from a properly administered drug or biological substance and the complication is specifically indexed to categories 995.0, 995.2, 995.3, and 995.4, Chapter XVII. These categories are not to be used if the condition requiring treatment is known.

Example: I (a) Allergic reaction

- (b) Drug therapy
- (c) Pyelitis

<u>Code to pyelitis (590.8), the condition necessitating treatment.</u>

If the condition being treated is not stated and the complication of the drug therapy is not indexed to Chapter 17, code to the complication as indexed in Chapters 1-I6.

Examples: I (a) Respiratory arrest

- (b) Ulcer of stomach
- (c) Cortisone therapy

<u>Code to</u> ulcer of stomach (531.9), the complication of the drug therapy as classified in Chapters I-I6.

- I (a) Allergic reaction
  - (b) Penicillin

<u>Code to</u> adverse effect of penicillin in correct useage (E930.0). When the condition being treated is not stated, and the complication of drug therapy is specifically indexed to Chapter XVII, the underlying cause of death is the appropriate E code.

#### E967 CHILD BATTERING AND OTHER MALTREATMENT

This category INCLUDES deaths of decedents under 18 years of age if the cause of death certification meets one of the following criteria:

- A. Specifies abuse, beating, battering, or other maltreatment, even if homicide is not specified.
- B. Specifies homicide and injury or injuries with indication of more than one episode of injury, i.e., current injury coupled with old or healed injury consistent with a history of child abuse.
- C. Specifies homicide and multiple injuries consistent with an assumption of beating or battering, unless assault by a peer, intruder, or by someone unknown to the child can be reasonably inferred from the reported information.

EXCLUDED from this category are deaths specified as homicide with an injury occurring as an isolated episode, and no indication of previous mistreatment; also EXCLUDED are deaths due to events such as shooting, stabbing, hanging, fighting, or involvement in robbery or other crime, since it cannot be assumed that such injuries were inflicted simply in the course of punishment or cruel treatment.

E980-E989 INJURY UNDETERMINED WHETHER ACCIDENTALLY OR PURPOSELY INFLICTED

E980-E989 are for use when it is stated that an investigation by a medical or legal authority has not determined whether the injuries are accidental, suicidal, or homicidal. They include such statements as "jumped or fell," "don't know," "accidental or homicidal," "accidental or suicide," "undetermined." They also include self-inflicted injuries, other than poisoning, when not specified whether accidental or with intent to harm.

Examples: I(a) Fx. skull, laceration of brain and subdural hematoma Unknown whether accidental or homicide <u>Code to</u> E988.9.

I(a) Barbiturate overdose Undetermined: Circumstances unknown <u>Code to</u> E980.1.

I(a) Cerebral hemorrhage (b) Shot self in head Code to E985.4.

#### NOT TO BE USED FOR UNDERLYING CAUSE-OF-DEATH CLASSIFICATION

009.1	323.2*	362.0*	564.2	712.0*
009.3	323.3*	370.1*	564.3*	712.1*
090.1	323.4*	373.4*	567.0*	712.2*
090.6	323.6*	373.5*	569.6	712.3*
092	323.7*	373.6*	573.1*	713(.08)*
094.3	330.2*	376.2*	573.2*	730.4*
096	330.3*	383.3	576.0	730.5*
097.1	331.5*	405	579.2	730.6*
102.8	331.6*	420.0*	579.3	730.7*
196	331.7*	421.1*	595.4*	730.8*
197	334.4*	422.0*	601.4*	731.1*
198	336.2*	425.6*	628.1*	731.8*
244.0	336.3*	425.7*	639	737.4*
251.3	337.1*	425.8*	711.1*	768.0
294.1	350.0*	429.4	711.2*	768.1
320.4*	357.1*	441.7*	711.3*	774.0*
320.5*	357.2*	447.7*	711.4*	777.0*
320.7*	357.3*	456.2*	711.5*	795.8
321(.08)*	357.4*	457.0	711.6*	800-999(Chapter
				XVII)
323.0*	358.1*	484(.08)*	711.7*	
323.1*	359.5*	516.1*	711.8*	
359.6*	517(.0,.1,.2,.8	3)*		

In Chapter XI, the following 3-digit codes will be used as the underlying cause of death. The fourth digits will not be used.

640-641 643-645 650-676

#### А

Abortion (630-638)
complications of (639)
Accident, accidental
air and space transport (E840-E845)
due to
disease condition
natural and environmental factors (E907-E909) 103
information outside of Part I and Part II
late effects (E929) 104
motor vehicle (E810-E819)
nontraffic (E820-E825)
snowmobile (E820)
transport (E800-E845)
Accidentally or purposely inflicted injuries (E980-E989)
Activity of rheumatic fever
Addiction, drug (304)
Adjectival modifiers in Rule 8
Adverse effect of medicinal agents in therapeutic use
Age in designating conditions as congenital
Age in designating diseases of infancy
Age and sex limitations
•
Acquired immune deficiency syndrome (AIDS) (042)
AIDS (042)
AIDS-related complex (ARC)(043)
Alcoholism (303)
in combination with drugs
Alzheimer's disease
Angina pectoris (413)
Arteriosclerosis, atherosclerosis (440)
cerebral (437.0)
Asbestosis
Aspiration
causing pneumonia
due to disease condition
food (E911)
due to disease condition
mucus (E912)
due to disease condition
vomitus (E911)
due to disease condition
Assumption of intervening cause 43
Asthma (493) 92
Atherosclerosis

Bacterial disease (041)	
Blind loop syndrome	
Blindness 8	
Bronchitis	<b>)</b> 1
acute (466.0)	<b>)</b> 1
chronic (491)	<b>31</b>
unspecified (490)	<b>)</b> 1

# С

Carbon monoxide poisoning, motor vehicle exhaust gas (E868.2) 100
Cardiac dysrhythmias
Cardiomegaly 88
Cataclysm (E908-E909) 103
Cerebral atherosclerosis
Certificate of death 15
Child, definition of
Child battering and maltreatment 105
Coal worker's pneumoconiosis
Colostomy malfunction
Complications (of)
following abortion and ectopic pregnancies (639)
following mastoidectomy
labor and delivery (660-669) 93
medical care
misadventure during surgical and medical care
operation for Rule 3
other and unspecified therapeutic procedures (E879)
puerperium (670-676)
related to pregnancy (640-648) 93
surgical and medical procedures as the cause (E878-E879)
trauma for Rule 3
Cerebrovascular disease, late effect 89
Conduction disorders
Congenital
conditions, duration in designating 46
malformations
age in designating
Curvature of spine (737.3)

Deafness (389)
Dependence, drug (304)         87           Direct sequel (Rule 3)         23           Disease         23
Alzheimer's (331.0)
bacterial (041)
cardiovascular
endocardial structures, other rheumatic (397) 85
endocardium, chronic of other endocardial structures (424)
hypertensive (402)
hypertensive and renal (404) 87
ill-defined (429) 89
ischemic (chronic) (414) 87
pulmonary
rheumatic, active and inactive (390-398) 83
hypertensive (401) 86
heart (402)
and renal (404)
ischemic (410-414)
chronic (414)
mitral valve (394.9)
Pick's (331.1)
pulmonary heart (416.9) 87
rheumatic of pulmonary valve
Disintegrative psychosis
Disorders
relating to short gestation
relating to long gestation
Doubtful diagnoses
accident, homicide, or suicide 105
Drug
dependence
poisoning (E850-E858)
with addiction
with alcohol
undetermined whether accidentally or purposely inflicted
psychosis
medicaments and biological substances
causing adverse effects in therapeutic use
"Due to" deletion
Duration of causes, effect on classification
one duration for two conditions on a line 46

Early and late stages of disease (Rule 9)       3         Edema, lung, acute (518.4)       9         Editing and interpreting       9         Editing and interpreting       4         Effect(s)       4	92
late (Rule 10       3         of age of decedent       4         of durations       4	17 15
one for two conditions       4         Embolism, thrombosis, thrombophlebitis as complication of operation       2         Emphysema (492)       9         Endocardium, other diseases       8         Epilepsy 82       82	24 91
Epilepsy 62         Erysipelas (035)         Errors and accidents in medical care         Exhaust gas, motor vehicle, carbon monoxide poisoning         Expressions of doubtful diagnoses         External causes	00 00
successive	

### F

Failure			
heart			 . 88
renal			
unspecified			 . 93
chronic			 . 93
Fall due to disease of bone			
Fetal death			 . 94
Fever, rheumatic			
First event trivial			 . 95
Floods 103			
Food vomitus, or foreign body a	spiration (E91	1) (E912)	 103
Functional disturbances followin			

# G

Gas, exhaust, motor vehicle, carbon monoxide poisoning	100
General rule	. 20
Glomerulonephritis, acute	. 92
Guides to highly improbable sequences	. 44

Heart disease hypertensive	
pulmonary, unspecified	
rheumatic	
unspecified descriptions	
Heart failure	-
Hemiplegia	2
Highly improbable guides 44	4
Histological types of malignant neoplasm (bone, connective tissue,	
skin, central nervous system) 7'	1
Human immune deficiency virus infection	5
Hypertension, hypertensive (disease) 86	3
essential	6
heart	6
heart and renal	7
renal	7
secondary	

#### I

III defined conditions (Rule 5)    26      Immaturity    94
Improbable sequence guide
Infant, definition of
Infantile cerebral palsy
Infection
bacterial
upper respiratory
viral 67
Infectious and parasitic disease (001-139) 59
rarely reported in U.S 57
Infective conditions, late effects of
Infertility
male
female
Inhalation and ingestion
food
other object
Injury
accidentally or purposely inflicted (E980-E989) 105
complication of, for Rule 3
Interpretation of
"highly improbable"
non-medical terms
versus
heart (disease) (410-414) 87
acute (410)
chronic (414)

umped or fell"	05

# K

Kyphoscoliosis and scoliosis	94
Kyphoscoliosis and scoliosis	94

# L

Late effects (Rule 10)	38
of accidental injury	
of intracranial abscess or pyogenic infection	81
Lightning (E907)	103
Limitations, sex and age	
Linkage (Rule 7)	29
conflict in	31
further	33
one linkable condition on record	30
special record, construction of	31
two or more linkable conditions on record	31

### Μ

# Page

Malignant neoplasm
area or region
histological types
ill-defined sites
lymph nodes with other sites
metastatic
multiple sites
no indication of primary site
secondary
primary unknown
secondary
site unspecified
Maternal conditions, old (Rule 11) 40
Mental retardation
Metastatic neoplasm, malignant
Military personnel aircraft accident
Modification of the cause selected 19
Modification rules
Motor vehicle accidents
Motor vehicle exhaust gas poisoning 100
Multiple deaths, same accident
Multiple heart conditions, one stated to be rheumatic

Myocardial	
degeneration	88
infarction	
Myocarditis	88

# Ν

Nasopharyngitis, acute	91
Neoplasm, malignant	71
area or region	74
histological types	71
ill-defined sites	73
lymph nodes with other sites	73
metastatic	76
multiple sites	72
no indication of primary site	73
primary unknown	75
secondary	75
site unspecified	74
Newborn, definition of	47
No reported sequence terminating in the condition first entered on the	
certificate (Rule 2)	22
Nondependent abuse of tobacco	81
Nonmedical term, interpretation of	52
Numbering of causes	55

# 0

Old pneumonia, influenza, and maternal (Rule 11)	40
Operation	50
complication of	101

### Ρ

alsy, cerebral
Coalworker's
due to silica and silicates
neumonia (any)
complication of operation and trauma 24
unspecified
bisoning
drugs and medicaments (E850-E858.9) 99
undetermined circumstances 105
with addiction
motor vehicle exhaust gas 100

Poliomyelitis	37
Postcholecystectomy syndrome	92
Postgastric surgery syndrome	92
Postmastectomy syndrome	90
Postmaturity	94
Postsurgical hypoinsulinemia 8	30
Postsurgical hypothyroidism 8	30
Pregnancy with abortive outcome	
complications of	93
ectopic (633)	93
Puerperium, complications	93
Pulmonary tuberculosis	59

# Q

Querying, cause of	death	. 55
--------------------	-------	------

# R

7
2
1
3
0
0
1
2
3
5
6
7
9
5
7
8
0
1
9
9

Sclerosis, renal, unspecified	75 17 20 105 82 25
"highly improbable"	44
reported	
definition	
Sex and age limitations	49
Slight injuries	
Specificity (Rule 8)	35
Status of victim in transport accidents (E800-E845)	96
Sterility, male (606) female (628)	
Subacute	47
Successive external causes	95
Sudden infant death syndrome	94
Suffocation while asleep (E913.0)	. 104
Suicide or accident	. 105
Supplementary classification of external causes (E800-E999)	95

# Т

Tetanus (037)	60
Thrombosis as complication of operation	24
Transient and other organic psychotic conditions	80
Transport accident (E800-E845)	96
fourth digits	96
motor vehicle	96
Trauma, complication of, for Rule 3	24
Trivial conditions (Rule 6)	27
Tuberculosis, late effects (137)	69
Two or more conditions with one duration	46

Jnderlying cause of death	
concept	7
definition	3
modification	
selection	
Jndetermined circumstances of injury         10	5

### V

Versus interpretation	52
Virus diseases (079)	67
Vomiting following gastrointestinal surgery	92